
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
AGENDA

Page 1 of 4

TUESDAY 17 DECEMBER 2019 AT 7.00 PM
DBC COUNCIL CHAMBER - THE FORUM

The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda.

Membership

Councillor Guest (Chairman)
Councillor Maddern
Councillor Riddick
Councillor C Wyatt-Lowe (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Beauchamp
Councillor Durrant
Councillor Oguchi

Councillor McDowell
Councillor Uttley
Councillor Woolner
Councillor Symington
Councillor Hobson
Councillor R Sutton

For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support on 01442 228209.

AGENDA

1. MINUTES  

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting (these are circulated separately)

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Public Document Pack



Page 2 of 4

To receive any declarations of interest

A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a personal interest in a matter who 
attends

a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered -

(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest 
becomes apparent and, if the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest, or a 
personal
interest which is also prejudicial

(ii) may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter (and must withdraw 
to the public seating area) unless they have been granted a dispensation.

A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which is 
not registered in the Members’ Register of Interests, or is not the subject of a 
pending notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 
days of the disclosure.

Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal and prejudicial interests are defined in 
Part 2 of the Code of Conduct For Members

[If a member is in any doubt as to whether they have an interest which should be 
declared they

should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer before the start of the meeting] 

It is requested that Members declare their interest at the beginning of the relevant 
agenda item and it will be noted by the Committee Clerk for inclusion in the minutes. 



Page 3 of 4

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

An opportunity for members of the public to make statements or ask questions in 
accordance with the rules as to public participation.

Time per 
speaker

Total Time Available How to let us 
know

When we need to know by

3 minutes

Where more than 1 person 
wishes to speak on a planning 
application, the shared time is 
increased from 3 minutes to 5 
minutes.

In writing or by 
phone

5pm the day before the 
meeting. 

You need to inform the council in advance if you wish to speak by contacting Member 
Support on Tel: 01442 228209 or by email: Member.support@dacorum.gov.uk

The Development Management Committee will finish at 10.30pm and any unheard 
applications will be deferred to the next meeting. 

There are limits on how much of each meeting can be taken up with people having their 
say and how long each person can speak for.  The permitted times are specified in the 
table above and are allocated for each of the following on a 'first come, first served 
basis':

 Town/Parish Council and Neighbourhood Associations;
 Objectors to an application;
 Supporters of the application.

Every person must, when invited to do so, address their statement or question to the 
Chairman of the Committee.

Every person must after making a statement or asking a question take their seat to 
listen to the reply or if they wish join the public for the rest of the meeting or leave the 
meeting.
The questioner may not ask the same or a similar question within a six month period 
except for the following circumstances:

(a) deferred planning applications which have foregone a significant or material 
change since originally being considered

(b) resubmitted planning applications which have foregone a significant or 
material change

(c) any issues which are resubmitted to Committee in view of further facts or 
information to be considered.

At a meeting of the Development Management Committee, a person, or their 
representative, may speak on a particular planning application, provided that it is on the 
agenda to be considered at the meeting.

Please note: If an application is recommended for approval, only objectors can invoke 
public speaking and then supporters will have the right to reply. Applicants can only 
invoke speaking rights where the application recommended for refusal.

mailto:Member.support@dacorum.gov.uk


Page 4 of 4

5. INDEX TO PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

(a) 19/02543/FHA - Rear ground floor single storey extension with internal 
modifications, dormer roof extension with new internal staircase. - 40 Elizabeth Ii 
Avenue Berkhamsted Hertfordshire HP4 3BF  (Pages 5 - 10)

(b) 4/02033/19/FUL - Conversion of existing dwelling into two dwellings & 
development of two 3 bed dwellings - 39A Adeyfield Road Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 5DP  (Pages 11 - 28)

(c) 4/02277/19/FUL - Install 13 parking bays on amenity land - Amenity Green Opp. 
7 Elm Green Hemel Hempstead HP1 3PX  (Pages 29 - 37)

(d) 4/02266/19/FHA - Retention of existing shed in Garden. - 65 St Johns Road 
Hemel Hempstead HP1 1QQ  (Pages 38 - 44)

(e) 4/02267/19/LBC - Retention of existing shed in Garden. - 65 St Johns Road 
Hemel Hempstead HP1 1QQ  (Pages 45 - 49)

(f) 4/00718/19/FUL - Change of use from agricultural land to dog walking paddock 
with associated car parking and new vehicle crossover. - Land South The 
Brambles, Flaunden Lane, Bovingdon  (Pages 50 - 140)

6. APPEALS  (Pages 141 - 157)



Item 5a

19/02543/FHA - SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION, INTERNAL ALTERATIONS AND REAR 
DORMER WINDOW.

40 ELIZABETH II AVENUE, BERKHAMSTED

Page 5

Agenda Item 5a



Item 5a

19/02543/FHA- SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION, INTERNAL ALTERATIONS AND REAR 
DORMER WINDOW.

40 ELIZABETH II AVENUE, BERKHAMSTED

Page 6



ITEM NUMBER: 5a

19/02543/FHA Rear ground floor single storey extension with internal modifications, 
dormer roof extension with new internal staircase.

Site Address: 40 Elizabeth Ii Avenue Berkhamsted Hertfordshire HP4 3BF  
Applicant/Agent: Mr Wilson
Case Officer: Robert Freeman
Parish/Ward: Berkhamsted Town Council Berkhamsted West

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1 That planning permission be GRANTED.

2. SUMMARY

2.1 The proposed extensions are not considered to result in significant harm to either the 
appearance of the dwelling or the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with 
Policies CS11 and CS12 of the Core Strategy. 

3. SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 The site comprises one of a number of properties constructed in Phase 1 of the development 
of the Bearroc Park estate, Berkhamsted. The property is located off the eastern distributor 
road between Charlotte Close and Gilphins Close. 

3.2 The site comprises a modern 4 bedroom detached dwelling with an integral garage. 

4. PROPOSAL

4.1 The proposals involve the construction of a single storey rear extension, a play room above 
the existing garage and a rear dormer window. This dormer window will facilitate the 
provision of an additional bedroom and bathroom at roof level. 

5. PLANNING HISTORY

Planning Applications 

4/01886/19/FHA - Rear ground floor single storey extension. Conversion of garage to habitable 
accommodation & storage, & roof extension with new internal Staircase. 
WDN - 5th September 2019

Appeals 
 
6. PLANNING POLICIES

Main Documents:

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 2006-2031 (adopted September 2013)
Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1999-2011 (adopted April 2004)

Relevant Policies:

Page 7



Core Strategy - Policy NP1: Supporting Development
Core Strategy - Policy CS1: Distribution of Development
Core Strategy - Policy CS4: The Towns and Large Villages
Core Strategy - Policy CS8: Sustainable Transport
Core Strategy - Policy CS11: Quality of Neighbourhood Design
Core Strategy - Policy CS12: Quality of Site Design
Local Plan - Saved Policy 51: Development and Transport Impacts
Local Plan - Saved Policy 54: Highway Design
Local Plan - Saved Policy 58: Private Parking Provision
Local Plan - Saved Appendix 5: Parking Provision
Local Plan - Saved Appendix 7: Small-Scale House Extensions

7. CONSTRAINTS

Parking Accessibility Zone (DBLP): 4
Special Control for Advertisments: Advert Spec Contr
CIL Zone: CIL1
Former Land Use (Risk Zone): Infilled Pond, Durrants Lane, Berkhamsted
Parish: Berkhamsted CP
RAF Halton and Chenies Zone: RAF HALTON: DOTTED BLACK ZONE
RAF Halton and Chenies Zone: Red (10.7m)
EA Source Protection Zone: 3
Town: Berkhamsted

8. REPRESENTATIONS

Consultation responses

8.1 These are reproduced in full at Appendix A.

Neighbour notification/site notice responses
 
8.2 These are reproduced in full at Appendix B.

9. CONSIDERATIONS

Principle of Development

9.1 The site is located within the urban area of Berkhamsted where in accordance with Policies NP1, 
CS1 and CS4 of the Core Strategy there would be no objection in principle to the extension of 
existing residential units. 

9.2 Despite being a relatively new residential unit, the application site benefits from Permitted 
Development Rights under the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
1995 (As amended). The legislation allows for the provision of rear extensions and the conversion of 
loft spaces without the need for planning permission in certain circumstances. 

Quality of Design

9.3 The proposed extensions to the dwelling are considered to be appropriate in terms of their 
design, bulk, scale, height and use of materials. Indeed the physical extent of works is similar to that 
which could be constructed without the need for planning permission as noted on the submitted 
plans. The contemporary finish to the rear dormer window is not considered to be unduly harmful to 
the character and appearance of the property. 

Page 8



9.4 Accordingly it is considered that the proposals would be in accordance with Policies CS11 and 
CS12 of the Core Strategy.  

Impact on Residential Amenity

9.5 The proposals are not considered to result in any additional issues with overlooking of 
neighbouring units. There is already some overlooking of the rear garden at Charlotte Close which 
would not be exacerbated by this proposal nor constitute grounds for the refusal of this application 
under Policy CS12 of the Core Strategy and Saved Appendix 7 of the Local Plan. 

Impact on Highway Safety and Parking

9.6 The provision of an additional bedroom within the loft space of the property will not significantly 
intensify the use of the premises or increase demand for off-street parking provision as set out in 
Saved Appendix 5 of the Local Plan. Accordingly there would be no grounds for objection under 
Policies CS8 or CS12 of the Core Strategy nor Saved Appendix 5 of the Local Plan . 

10. RECOMMENDATION

10. That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

 1. The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of three years from the 
date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004.

 2. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development 
hereby permitted shall be provided in accordance with those specified on drawings:

TWS-1904-00-30 Revision 01
TWS-1904-00-31 Revision 01

Reason:  To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes 
to the character of the area in accordance with Policies CS11 and CS12 of the Dacorum 
Borough Core Strategy (2013).

 3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans/documents:

TWS-1904-00-30 Revision 01 and TWS-1904-00-31 Revision 01

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

APPENDIX A: CONSULTEE RESPONSES

Consultee Comments

Page 9



Local Parish The Committee considered the proposed scheme is an 
overdevelopment which would set an unfortunate precedent in a 
currently uniform street scene. The proposed addition of a bedroom 
raised concerns over adequacy of parking provision in a road already 
experiencing congestion. It was also unclear whether the rear dormer 
fenestration would result in overlooking to the properties on Charlotte 
Close. CS12.'

Contaminated Land 
(DBC)

Having reviewed the application submission and the ECP records I am 
able to confirm that there is no objection on the grounds of land 
contamination. Also, there is no requirement for further contaminated 
land information to be provided, or for contaminated land planning 
conditions to be recommended in relation to this application.

APPENDIX B: NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES

Number of Neighbour Comments

Neighbour
Consultations

Contributors Neutral Objections Support

6 0 0 0 0

Neighbour Responses

Object (O), Support (S), 
Representation (R)

Comments

Page 10



Item 5b

4/02033/19/FUL – CONVERSION OF EXISTING DWELLING INTO TWO UNITS AND 
CONSTRUCTION OF 2 X 3 BEDROOM DWELLINGS.

39A ADEYFIELD ROAD, HEMEL HEMPSTEAD, HERTFORDSHIRE. HP2 5DP

Page 11

Agenda Item 5b



Item 5b

4/02033/19/FUL – CONVERSION OF EXISTING DWELLING INTO TWO UNITS AND 
CONSTRUCTION OF 2 X 3 BEDROOM DWELLINGS.

39A ADEYFIELD ROAD, HEMEL HEMPSTEAD, HERTFORDSHIRE. HP2 5DP

Page 12



ITEM NUMBER: 5b

4/02033/19/FUL Conversion of existing dwelling into two dwellings & development of 
two 3 bed dwellings

Site Address: 39A Adeyfield Road Hemel Hempstead HP2 5DP   
Applicant/Agent: Update Record
Case Officer: Briony Curtain
Parish/Ward: No Parish Adeyfield West

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1 That planning permission be GRANTED.

2. SUMMARY

2.1 The site is situated within the urban area of Hemel Hempstead wherein the principle of 
housing development is acceptable in line with Policies CS1 and CS4 of the Core Strategy 2013. 
Policy 10 of the DBLP promotes the effective and efficient use of urban land and as such the 
proposal is acceptable in principle.  Moreover, planning permission for the demolition of the 
existing dwelling and the construction of four dwellings, access road, parking and landscaping has 
already been granted planning permission by Members in July 2018.

2.2 Therefore consideration of this application rests upon the differences now proposed in relation 
to density, type of dwellings, appearance, impact on neighbouring properties and highway safety. 

2.3 The approved scheme permits the demolition of the existing dwelling and its replacement with 
three dwellings to the front of the site and an additional single unit to the rear.  The current 
proposal also seeks permission for four dwellings across the site but now seeks to retain the 
existing dwelling, converting it into two properties, and construct two units to the rear. 

2.4 The proposed development would successfully integrate with its surroundings. The existing 
building would now be retained and whilst being converted into two properties the overall visual 
there are no external changes proposed such that the impact on the character and appearance of 
this part of the street scene would be minimal.  From the street scene there would be glimpses of 
the additional dwellings to the rear but given these would be simple in their design and form and 
relate well to adjacent recent developments they would not cause significant visual harm.  

2.5 The proposal would not result in any material detriment to adjoining residential amenities, 
especially when compared to the previously approved scheme and given existing accesses / 
vehicle crossovers are to be retained the scheme as now proposed would not have an adverse 
effect on highway safety. 

2.6 There are similar recent developments in the immediate area.

2.7 The proposal complies with Policies CS4, CS8, CS11, and CS12. 

3. SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 The site is located to the east of the town centre on the northern side of Adeyfield Road and 
currently comprises a two storey dwelling set on a generous sized plot. There are two vehicular 
access points to the site from Adeyfield Road.  

Page 13



3.2 The topography of the site slopes from the front to the back and overlooks Keen Fields which 
is designated as open land and has a dramatic slope down and away from the application site with 
far reaching views both to and from the site. In addition the area slopes up to the east such that 
No. 41 occupies an elevated position above the application site.

4. PROPOSAL

4.1 Full planning permission is sought for the conversion of the existing building into two 3-bed 
dwellings and the construction of two 3-bed dwellings within the rear garden. The existing site 
accesses would be maintained and widened, the eastern most one providing the access road to 
the rear plots. Each dwelling would be served by at least two-off street parking spaces and a 
private garden. 

5. PLANNING HISTORY

Planning Applications 

4/03191/18/FUL - Demolition of existing dwelling and development of two 3-bed and two 4-bed 
dwellings, access drive, parking and landscaping (resubmission) 
GRA - 24th April 2019

4/00367/18/FUL - Demolition of existing dwelling and development of two 3-bed and two 4-bed 
dwellings, access drive, parking and landscaping 
REF - 31st July 2018

4/01851/17/PRE - Demolition of existing dwelling.  development of 4 new houses, access drive, 
parking and landscaping 
ROB - 16th November 2017

4/01715/99/FHA - Vehicular crossover 
GRA - 3rd November 1999

4/01743/98/FHA - Two storey side extension 
GRA - 23rd December 1998

4/00952/98/FHA - Two storey side extension 
REF - 9th September 1998

 
6. PLANNING POLICIES

Main Documents:

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 2006-2031 (adopted September 2013)
Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1999-2011 (adopted April 2004)

Relevant Policies:

Core Strategy - Policy CS12: Quality of Site Design
Core Strategy - Policy CS4: The Towns and Large Villages
Core Strategy - Policy CS17: New Housing
Core Strategy - Policy CS18: Mix of Housing

Page 14



Core Strategy - Policy CS19: Affordable Housing
Core Strategy - Policy CS23: Social Infrastructure
Core Strategy - Policy CS29: Sustainable Design and Construction
Core Strategy - Policy CS30: Sustainability Offsetting
Core Strategy - Policy CS31: Water Management
Core Strategy - Policy CS32: Air, Soil and Water Quality
Core Strategy - Policy CS35: Infrastructure and Developer Contributions

7. CONSTRAINTS

15.2m Air Dir Limit
CIL Zone 3
Former Land Use (Risk Zone)
Residential Character Area
SSSI Impact Risk Zone

8. REPRESENTATIONS

Consultation responses

8.1 These are reproduced in full at Appendix A.

Neighbour notification/site notice responses
 
8.2 These are reproduced in full at Appendix B.

9. CONSIDERATIONS

Main Issues

9.1 The main issues to consider are:

The policy and principle justification for the proposal;
The quality of design and impact on visual amenity;
The impact on residential amenity (existing and future residents); and
The impact on highway safety and car parking.

Principle of Development

9.2 The application site is located within the town of Hemel Hempstead wherein, in accordance 
with Policy CS4 of the Dacorum Core Strategy (2013), appropriate residential development is 
encouraged.  

9.3 Policy CS17 of the Core Strategy seeks to promote residential development to address a need 
for additional housing within the Borough and new dwellings are supported in principle by policy 
CS18 of the Core Strategy. 

9.4 The NPPF encourages the provision of more housing within towns and other specified 
settlements and encourages the effective use of land by reusing land that is underused or has 
been previously developed.  Saved Policy 10 of the Local Plan (2004) echoes this and seeks to 
optimise the use of available land within urban areas.

Previous approval for four dwellings 

Page 15



9.5 It is also important to note that the re-development of the site to provide four dwellings has 
already been granted planning permission by Members in 2018 (4/03191/18/FUL) and this is a 
material consideration. 

9.6 Taking all of the above into account, the proposal is acceptable in principle and would make a 
small but valuable contribution to the Borough's existing housing stock (in accordance with Policy 
CS17). The development would be located in a sustainable location and would seek to optimise 
the use of urban land. The proposal is in accordance with policies CS1, CS4 and CS17 of the Core 
Strategy (2013), Saved Policy 10 of the Local Plan (2004) and the NPPF (2019).

The Quality of the Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area

9.7 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should, amongst other 
things:

 Ensure that developments are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout 
and appropriate and effective landscaping.

 Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and 
mix of development.

 Create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-
being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

Policy CS11 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure that development:

 Respects the typical density intended in an area and enhances spaces between buildings 
and general character, 

 Preserves attractive streetscapes and enhances any positive linkages between character 
areas.

Policy CS12 states that on each site development should integrate with the streetscape character 
and respect adjoining properties in terms of layout, site coverage, scale, height, bulk, materials, 
landscaping and amenity space.

9.8 The site is situated within Adeyfield North (HCA 23) wherein redevelopment and infilling 
opportunities are identified as limited but may be acceptable according to the development 
principles. Within this area the principles are defined as follows; 

Design; No special requirements
Type; Overall no special requirements, but should pay respect to the type, style, size and 

mass of nearby adjoining development
Size; should not normally exceed two storeys
Layout; New development should follow the building line where this is clearly present. 

Spacing should respect that of nearby and adjacent development and should 
normally be provided in the medium range (2m to 5m)

Density; should normally be provided in the medium range (30-50 dwellings/ha)

9.9 The application site already benefits from planning permission for the demolition of the existing 
building and the construction of three dwellings fronting Adeyfield Road and one to the very rear. 
The current proposal continues to seek consent for four dwellings in total across the site but it is 

Page 16



now proposed to retain the existing dwelling to the front and convert it into two 3-bedroom 
properties and then provide a semi-detached pair of 3-bed dwellings to the rear.  

9.10 The proposal as now amended is considered acceptable. The proposal still comprises four 
dwellings on a 0.1 hectare site, which equates to a density of 34 dwellings per hectare, which is 
within the lower end of the 30-50 density prescribed in the development principles for the area. 
The overall layout, size and spacing are also acceptable, with the general siting and footprints of 
the dwellings largely as per the existing and previously approved configurations. The layout as 
proposed is consistent with the prevailing street pattern and surrounding recent developments.   

9.10 Turning to design, the building to the front facing Adeyfield Road is to be retained and given 
there are no external alterations required to facilitate its conversion, the overall impact of this part 
of the proposal on the character and appearance of this part of the street scene would be 
negligible.  Similarly the rear units are simple in their design to relate to recent adjoining housing 
developments and given their set back position behind the front units they would not be readily 
visible in the Adeyfield Road street scene. The second unit now proposed to the rear would appear 
as a mirror image of the approved unit and is therefore considered acceptable.  The rear units 
would be highly visible from the open Keens Fields to the rear but no more so that recent 
surrounding developments and would successfully integrate in longer distance views.  

9.11 The proposals are considered to comply with Policies CS11 and CS12 of the Core Strategy 
2013.

Impact on Residential Amenity – existing residents

9.12 Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy states that development should, amongst other 
things, avoid visual intrusion, loss of sunlight and daylight, loss of privacy and disturbance to 
surrounding properties. 

9.13 Concerns have again been raised by local residents over the potential for visual intrusion, 
loss of light, and overlooking arising from the introduction of built form to the rear of the site. Whilst 
it is acknowledged that there would be some impact, the harm caused would not be so significant 
as to warrant a refusal.  

9.14 The overall siting, position, height and design of the new dwellings remains as per previously 
approved.  It is acknowledged that two units are now being proposed to the rear of the site so the 
mass and bulk of the built form is larger however the western unit remains exactly as per 
previously approved and the new unit sits immediately to the east appearing as a mirror image. It 
is important to note therefore that given its position and orientation the eastern rear dwelling now 
proposed would have no greater impact on the adjacent care facility than the dwelling already 
approved. It would be closer to No. 41 but given the separation distances would not appear unduly 
prominent or give rise to overlooking or privacy concerns. 

 Impact on Residential Amenity – future residents

9.15 Turning to the amenity of future residents the buildings are set an acceptable distance apart 
(in excess of 23m) to ensure an acceptable level of privacy, and each property is served by a 
private, (albeit small for units 3 and 4) enclosed rear garden which is of functional size and shape.  
The two units within the converted building along the main road frontage will have garden depths 
and widths which accord with Policy guidelines (exceeding the minimum 11.5m depth required in 
appendix 3 of the DBLP).  However, the two properties to the rear have appreciably smaller 
garden areas which fall below the required standard garden depth of 11.5m.   Although it is 
unusual to consider family houses (3-bedroom) with substandard garden provision, in this 

Page 17



particular case the vast expanse of public open amenity land that surrounds the site is considered 
to adequately compensate for the shortfall.  In addition whilst the depth clearly falls short of the 
required depth, the area would provide a functional amenity. In addition it is comparable to 
surrounding recently approved developments. 

9.16 Given the layout and siting of the properties and the limited amenity space provided it is 
considered necessary and reasonable to remove permitted development rights for extensions, roof 
additions, outbuildings and hard surfaces

9.17 The development is considered to comply with Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy.

Impact on Highway Safety and Parking

9.18 The previous approved scheme sought to close the existing western vehicular crossover and 
widen the eastern one to provide access and parking for all four dwellings. The current proposal 
seeks to retain and widen both existing crossovers/accesses. The western one will serve Unit 1 to 
the front, whilst the eastern one will provide access to the parking of Unit 2 and the access road to 
units 3 and 4 at the rear of the site.  Given the scale of the development (three additional units) 
whilst the use of the site would intensify it would not have a severe residual impact on the 
adjoining highway. Herts County Council Highways have reviewed the proposals and raise no 
objection subject to the imposition of conditions.  Whilst concern has been raised by a local 
resident that the access arrangements will require the removal of tree/s from the public highway 
(verge) the proposal does not seek the removal of tree/s. Given the widened access and the grass 
verge to the front, adequate pedestrian and vehicular visibility is provided in both directions. 

Other Material Planning Considerations

9.19  Affordable Housing
In line with Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy, which has been subject to updated interpretation 
through the Council’s Affordable Housing SPD – Clarification Note, the construction of 3 additional 
dwellings would not give rise to a requirement for affordable housing – either by way of on-site 
provision or in the form of a commuted sum.

9.20 Contamination 
The site has been identified as having the potential for contamination. As such the Councils 
Scientific Officer has requested the imposition of the standard conditions requiring site 
investigations.  These have been included.  A construction management plan has been requested 
but for a development of this scale, its imposition is not considered to meet the necessary tests. In 
addition the Highways Authority has the power to act if there are obstructions or hazards 
regardless of planning decisions/conditions. 

9.21 Fire
As per the previous permission Herts Fire and rescue require that the development would need to 
make provision for fire hydrants (or other measures). A condition requiring these has been 
included. 

9.22 Waste Management 
No details of waste management facilities have been submitted but given the layout and road 
widths proposed are comparable to the approved scheme, the LPA is satisfied these can be 
adequately provided and as such will be required by condition prior to the occupation of the 
dwellings. 

9.23 Subsidence 

Page 18



Concern has again been expressed in relation to ground stability and the impact of the 
development of surrounding properties that have already experienced subsidence issues. This 
would however not be a matter for consideration as this would be dealt with under Building 
Regulations is and when planning permission is granted. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

9.24 Policy CS35 states that all development will provide or contribute to the provision of the on-
site, local and strategic infrastructure required to support the development.

9.25 The site is situated within Charging Area 3 as defined by the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Charging Schedule. As such, residential development within this area is chargeable at a rate of 
£100 per square metre. 

10. RECOMMENDATION

10.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

 
 1. The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of three years from the 

date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

 2. No above ground development shall take place until details of the materials to be used in 
the construction of the external surfaces of the semi-detached pair of dwellings hereby 
permitted have been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  Please do not 
send materials to the Council offices.  Materials should be kept on site and arrangements 
made with the Planning Officer for inspection.

Reason:  To ensure satisfactory appearance to the development and to safeguard the 
visual character of the area in accordance with Policies CS11 and CS12 of the Dacorum 
Borough Core Strategy (2013).

 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order amending or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) no development falling within the following classes of the Order shall be 
carried out without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority:

Schedule 2 Part 1 Classes A, B, C, D, E, F. 

Reason:  To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development in 
the interests of safeguarding the residential and visual amenity of the locality in accordance 
with Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraph 127 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

 4. No above ground development  shall take place until full details of both hard and soft 
landscape works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  These details shall include:

Hard surfacing materials;

Page 19



Means of enclosure;
Bin storage facilities
Soft landscape works which shall include planting plans; written specifications (including 
cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules 
of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate;
trees to be retained and measures for their protection during construction works;
Proposed finished levels or contours;
Minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, 
signs, lighting etc);

The planting must be carried out within one planting season of completing the 
development.

Any tree or shrub which forms part of the approved landscaping scheme which within a 
period of 5years from planting fails to become established, becomes seriously damaged or 
diseased, dies or for any reason is removed shall be replaced in the next planting season 
by a tree or shrub of a species, size and maturity.

Reason:  To improve the appearance of the development and its contribution to biodiversity 
and the local environment, as required by saved Policy 99 of the Dacorum Borough Local 
Plan (2004) and Policy CS12 (e) of the Dacorum Borough Council Core Strategy (2013).

 5. No development, other than the conversion works to the existing building shall take place 
until a Phase I Report to assess the actual or potential contamination at the site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  If actual or potential 
contamination and/or ground gas risks are identified, further investigation shall be carried 
out and a Phase II report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development.  If the Phase II report 
establishes that remediation or protection measures are necessary, a Remediation 
Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

For the purposes of this condition:

(i)  A Phase I Report consists of a desk study, site walkover, conceptual model and a 
preliminary risk assessment.  The desk study comprises a search of available information 
and historical maps which can be used to identify the likelihood of contamination.  A simple 
walkover survey of the site is conducted to identify pollution linkages not obvious from desk 
studies.  Using the information gathered, a 'conceptual model' of the site is constructed and 
a preliminary risk assessment is carried out.

(ii)  A Phase II Report consists of an intrusive site investigation and risk assessment. The 
report should make recommendations for further investigation and assessment where 
required.

(iii)  A Remediation Statement details actions to be carried out and timescales so that 
contamination no longer presents a risk to site users, property, the environment or 
ecological systems.

Reason:  To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with 
Policy CS32 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraphs 178 and 180 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

Page 20



 6. All remediation or protection measures identified in the Remediation Statement referred to 
in Condition 5 above shall be fully implemented within the timescales and by the deadlines 
as set out in the Remediation Statement and a Site Completion Report shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of 
any part of the development hereby permitted.

For the purposes of this condition: a Site Completion Report shall record all the 
investigation and remedial or protection actions carried out. It shall detail all conclusions 
and actions taken at each stage of the works including validation work.  It shall contain 
quality assurance and validation results providing evidence that the site has been 
remediated to a standard suitable for the approved use.

Reason:  To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with 
Policy CS32 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraphs 178 and 180 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

 7. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved full details of fire hydrants and  
other measures to protect the development from fire will be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  Such details shall include provision of the mains 
water services for the development whether by means of existing water services, new 
mains, or extension to or diversion of existing services where the provision of fire hydrants 
is considered necessary.  As there is insufficient access and turning facilities, a rising main 
or suppressing system must be installed for Plots 3 & 4. The proposed development shall 
not be occupied until such measures have been implemented in accordance with the 
approved details and thereafter maintained as such.

Reason: To enable appropriate development to occur, ensure a safe, sustainable form of 
development which provides for its own infrastructure for fire emergencies in accordance 
with core strategy policies CS1, CS4, CS12 & CS29.

 8. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans/documents:

NT/ADY/002
NT/ADY/003
NT/ADY/004
NT/ADY/005
NT/ADY/006
NT/ADY/007
NT/ADY/008

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Informatives:

 1. Planning permission/advertisement consent/listed building consent has been granted for 
this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively through positive engagement with the 
applicant during the determination process which led to improvements to the scheme. The 
Council has therefore acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the Framework 
(paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2015.

Page 21



APPENDIX A: CONSULTEE RESPONSES

Consultee Comments

Hertfordshire 
Highways (HCC)

Notice is given under article 18 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 that the 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority does not wish to 
restrict the grant of permission subject to the following conditions: 
CONDITIONS: 
1. The development shall not be brought into use until all on site 
vehicular areas have been surfaced in a manner to the Local Planning 
Authority's approval so as to ensure satisfactory parking of vehicles 
outside highway limits. Arrangements shall be made for surface water 
from the site to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does 
not discharge into the highway 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety 
2. The development shall not be brought into use until an amended plan 
showing the proposed arrangements for the collection of waste shall be 
completed and submitted for approval by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
The Highway Authority would ask that the following note to the applicant 
be appended to any consent issued by the local planning authority:- 

INFORMATIVES: 
1. Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of 
materials associated with the construction of this development should 
be provided within the site on land which is not public highway, and the 
use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is 
not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority 
before construction works commence. Further information is available 
via the website: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-
roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-
licences/business-licences.aspxor by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
2. Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 
of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or 
excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway 
or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public 
highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully 
or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain 
their permission and requirements before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-
licences/business-licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
3. Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways 
Act 1980 to deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and 

Page 22



section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to 
remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 
that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development 
are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other 
debris on the highway. Further information is available via the website 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 
0300 1234047 
COMMENTS 
This application is for Conversion of existing dwelling into two dwellings 
& development of two 3 bed dwellings 
This amendment shows details of the proposed access and parking 
arrangements 
PARKING 
The proposal is to create a total of 8 parking spaces for the proposed 
properties; two on new hard standings in front of plots 1 and 2, and four 
on a new hard standing to be constructed in the middle of the site for 
plots 3 and 4, to be accessed via a new driveway and vxo. 
ACCESS 
The existing property currently has an in-out driveway with two vxos on 
Adeyfield Road, which is a "C" classified Local Distributor road, the 
C129, with a speed limit of 30mph. Vehicles are required to enter and 
leave the highway in forward gear. There have been 2 slight accidents 
involving personal injury in the past 5 years in the vicinity of the site. 

The amended proposal is to use the existing vehicular accesses without 
any amendment, although the internal driveway is to be widened. 
REFUSE STORAGE AND COLLECTION 
No proposals have been made for the storage or collection of waste 

The rear of plots 3 & 4 are approximately 30m from the highway, while 
plot 3 is more than 40m from the highway. 
Roads in Herts, section 2.6.8 Refuse collection, states that vehicles 
must be able to stop within the "maximum refuse carry distance" 
specified by the Local Planning Authority or within 25m of any bin 
storage area, whichever is the lesser distance. Residents should not 
have to carry their rubbish more than 30m to a storage point. (Sources 
BS5906 2005 and Schedule 1 Part H Building Regulations). The 
applicant is therefore required to submit a revised plan showing the 
proposed arrangement for the collection of waste from the 
development. 
EMERGENCY VEHICLE ACCESS 
Manual for Streets: 6.7.2, states that there should be a vehicle access 
for a pump appliance within 45m of single family houses and fire service 
vehicles should not have to reverse more than 20 metres. If a developer 

Page 23



wishes to reduce the running carriageway width to below 3.7m, they 
should consult the local Fire Safety Officer. The fire services 
department would need to be consulted for their comments regarding 
the accessibility of the proposed dwelling by fire service vehicles 
MFS,6.7.2 The Building Regulation requirement B5 (2000)10 concerns 
'Access and Facilities for the Fire Service'. Section 17, 'Vehicle Access', 
includes the following advice on access from the highway: 
o there should be a minimum carriageway width of 3.7 m between 
kerbs; o there should be vehicle access for a pump appliance within 45 
m of single family houses; o there should be vehicle access for a pump 
appliance within 45 m of every dwelling entrance for flats/maisonettes; 
o a vehicle access route may be a road or other route; and o fire service 
vehicles should not have to reverse more than 20 m. 
CONCLUSION 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority considers the 
proposal would not have a severe residual impact on the safety and 
operation of the adjoining highways subject to the conditions and 
informative notes above. 

APPENDIX B: NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES

Number of Neighbour Comments

Neighbour
Consultations

Contributors Neutral Objections Support

0 4 0 5 0

Neighbour Responses

Object (O), Support (S), 
Representation (R)

Comments

O I write to confirm I strongly protest on the above proposal for the 
following reasons:-

1. Walsingham Care home for disabled people is adjacent to 39A 
and already has severe loss of light due to the other recent 
development and the other side of them.  If you let this development go 
ahead there will be very limited light which would be devastating to the 
residents of the home who enjoy the sunshine they have on the terrace 
of the care home, I'm sure the press and social media would be 
interested if you did this to them.
2.  If there are Four houses there it would be a severe accident risk as 
the position of the land concerned is  on a very busy road where people 
often exceed the speed limit and this could have disastrous 
consequences for all concerned.

3.  You will have to chop the tree down in front of the house which would 
mean a  loss of privacy for myself and would be easy for the owners 

Page 24



and passers by to see my Kitchen, and would not be good for birds and 
wildlife who use the tree as their homes.

4.These plans keep getting re-submitted with very slight changes, 
myself and my neighbours will ALWAYS object to this ludicrous plan 
which are ridiculous.

O I wish to register objections to the size and scope of the proposed 
development at 39A Adeyfield Road, Hemel Hempstead.
I have objections on a number of grounds.
1. The property below 39A is a single story residential home for 
people with Severe Learning disabilities/physical disabilities/autism 
people. It already has a large new development on one side which 
overpowers the single story residence. The proposed development of 
39A will further overshadow the single story property in an 
unacceptable way reducing privacy and light.
2. The property at  No 39 boundary line with No 39A has  a high 
raised slope that  may require construction workers to have access via 
this property this would cause a serious concern to the health, safety 
and well-being of a group of vulnerable people and to staff who access 
a car park below the boundary wall.
3. Staff supporting people living at No 39 use the footpath on a 
regular basis to support people to access the community by walking or 
supporting people in wheelchairs.  The impact of construction vehicles 
parked on the pathway will restrict access to the community facilities 
that they currently use and also the Health and Safety of having to 
manoeuvre round the parked vehicles at times by having to access a 
busy road.  This has been our experience with the building works that 
have occurred with the construction that has already commenced on 
the opposite side of this property.
4. The proposed development frontage onto Adeyfield Road is 
completely out of character with the rest of the domestic properties 
along the road. It completely changes the aspect and degrades the 
visual look. Three story terrace housing of the design proposed is not 
appropriate. Even the development further down the road has 
maintained the frontage character and this should be applied to any 
proposed development at 39A. 
5. I have concerns regarding the impact of another numerous 
vehicles accessing a busy road. Adeyfield Road is a main link road to 
the industrial area and the M1 motorway for many people. It has at least 
5 bus routes including an express service to London. The road is used 
frequently by emergency services on 'blue light' calls to access the 
motorway. The proposed access road to this development will be on a 
particularly hazardous blind spot, just below the top of the hill.  Over the 
last few years at least 2 serious accidents have happened on this road.  
A new development further down the road has already increased the 
potential risks and it is my view that adding to that risk would be 
dangerous. The proposed development should be reduced in size to 
reduce the risk.  
6. The proposed plans show that it is the developer's intention to 
provide an access road between 39A and 41, by excavating and 
widening the current access to 39A. 41 Adeyfield Road has a history of 
severe subsidence along this boundary due to the ground conditions 
and slope. Creating access to the proposed development by 
excavations will seriously put the property at 41 at risk.

Page 25



O I wish to register objections to this proposed development.
The plans submitted are lacking in detail. No dimensions!!

1. My main area of concern is the impact of the proposed single 
dwelling in the garden alongside the boundary with 39 Adeyfield Road, 
currently a residential care home for severely disabled people. The 
slope of the land between the two properties is considerable, borne out 
by the need to have a massive retaining wall at the front of the 
properties to prevent 39 A falling into its neighbour. The slope increases 
the height of the proposed dwelling by at least a metre.
 The proposed dwelling will have a significant effect on the light and be 
visually intrusive and overbearing to the single storey property of 39 
and its residents (see attached photo showing land almost level with 
roof line of 39 Adeyfield Road)
 In fact any multi storey dwelling built in the garden would by nature of 
the slope of the land be overbearing and intrusive. Refusal of any 
application for building in the garden should always be upheld even if a 
suitable compromise were found for the development of housing the 
front.
2. . I have concerns regarding the impact of another 8+ vehicles 
accessing a busy road. Adeyfield Road is a main link road to the 
industrial area and the M1 motorway for many people. It has at least 5 
bus routes including an express service to London. The road is used 
frequently by emergency services on 'blue light' calls to access the 
motorway. The hill, where the proposed development is located, is 
hazardous in bad weather and has had, over the last few years, at least 
2 serious accidents, one almost opposite the proposed development. 
Vison is obscured by road side trees in both directions from the 
proposed access drive. (see attached photo). A new development 
further down the road has already increased the potential risks and it is 
my view that adding to that risk would be dangerous. The proposed 
development should be reduced in size to just the conversion of the 
existing dwelling to reduce the risk.
3. The proposed plans show that it is the developer's intention to 
provide an access road between 39A and 41, by excavating and 
widening the current access to 39A. 41 Adeyfield Road has a history of 
subsidence along this boundary due to the ground conditions and 
slope. Creating access to the proposed development by excavations 
will seriously put the property at 41 at risk
4. From the proposed plans there is limited access for emergency 
vehicles should they need access to the dwellings. The turning area is 
insufficient for large vehicles, (Fire appliances), to turn especially if cars 
are parked in the proposed parking areas. This would mean fire 
appliances having to park on the main road and 
fight a fire by running hoses etc down the access road. Not an 
acceptable or safe option.
5. A similar situation applies to the collection of rubbish. Currently 
households in Dacorum have to place wheelie bins by the roadside. 
This would mean residents in the semi-detached property proposed 
would need to transport their waste a considerable distance.
The crux of my objection is to the proposed semidetached dwelling in 
the garden. They will have a great impact on the wellbeing of 
neighbours, be difficult to service, and present a safety issue. Any 

Page 26



development on this site should be restricted to conversion of the 
existing dwelling. 

O The proposal does not provide safe and satisfactory access for 
residents, road users and pedestrians. The impact of having more cars 
trying to join the road just under the brow of the hill in what is virtually a 
crossroads with Mountfield Road, will be a real hazard to residents 
trying to get in and out of driveways, and to the stream of traffic using 
the road day and night, often at great speed. Adding another 2 
dwellings so close to the Mountfield Road Junction would dangerously 
affect the safety and operation of traffic on an already unsafe Adeyfield 
Road

There is inadequate parking on the proposed development. Adeyfield 
Road carries a high volume of traffic but it is much narrower than the 
other main routes form the town centre - Queensway and St Albans 
Road. There are no traffic calming measures and there is a single 
pavement on one side of the road. Inadequate parking facilities will 
bring about the likelihood that cars will attempt to park on the pavement 
which will be particularly dangerous for mobility scooters and those with 
prams and pushchairs, who will be forced to move onto the road to pass 
parked vehicles. Parked vehicles will also seriously compromise 
visibility for residents and traffic.

The size, scale, height and position of the proposed 3 storey semi-
detached houses in the back garden would restrict light levels and be 
visually intrusive to the adjacent bungalow at 39, and our property at 
41.This new development would be totally overbearing for those living 
at no, 39 and would dwarf this care home.

The unstable nature of the bank that divides no. 41 from the proposed 
development would be exacerbated by the excavation and construction 
of a 50 metre access road running along the length of the boundary 
between no. 41 and 39a which would also greatly add to noise 
disturbance. Repairs have also been undertaken in the past to no. 41, 
including underpinning and structural repairs. Landslip is a continuing 
feature in an east to west (downhill direction as evidenced by the 
crumbling front garden supporting walls at no.39a.

I hope you will consider these objections carefully and appreciate the 
fact that they are not only of an aesthetic nature but affect the very 
fabric of our house at no. 41

Page 27



Page 28



Item 5c

4/02277/19/FUL – CHANGE OF USE OF AMENITY GREEN TO PARKING AREA COMPRISING 13 
PARKING BAYS.

AMENITY GREEN OPPOSITE 7 ELM GREEN, HEMEL HEMPSTEAD, HERTS. HP1 3PX

Page 29

Agenda Item 5c



ITEM NUMBER: 5c

4/02277/19/FUL Install 13 parking bays on amenity land
Site Address: Amenity Green Opp. 7 Elm Green Hemel Hempstead HP1 3PX   
Applicant/Agent: Update Record
Case Officer: Colin Lecart
Parish/Ward: No Parish Chaulden And Warners End

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1 That planning permission be GRANTED.

2. SUMMARY

2.1 This application is part of the 'The Verge Hardening Project' that has highlighted and 
prioritised the areas of extreme parking stress in the Borough. The application is not 
considered to have a detrimental impact on the street scene or the amenity of 
neighbouring properties and would help to alleviate the on street parking stress that is 
prevalent in the surrounding area. 

3. SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 The application site comprises a strip of amenity green that is located adjacent to the 
properties located along Elm Green, Hemel Hempstead. The Open Land Designation of 
Spring Fields is located to the north and north east of the site. Elm Green is a small road 
accessed off Daggs Dell Road which leads straight onto a small car parking area that 
serves the adjacent properties. 

4. PROPOSAL

4.1 The application seeks permission to install 13 new car parking spaces on the existing 
amenity green. 

5. PLANNING HISTORY

Planning Applications (If Any):

4/01018/17/FHA - First floor extension over existing side extension & loft conversion with rear 
dormer 
GRA - 15th August 2017

4/00750/03/FHA - Single storey front/side extension 
GRA - 21st May 2003

Appeals (If Any):

 
6. PLANNING POLICIES

Main Documents:

Page 30



National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 2006-2031 (adopted September 2013)
Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1999-2011 (adopted April 2004)

Relevant Policies:

CS4
CS11
CS12
CS31

Saved Appendix 5

Saved Policy 99

7. CONSTRAINTS

15.2m Air Dir Limit
Community Infrastructure Levy
Residential Character Areas
SSSI Impact Risk Zones
Source Protection Zone

8. REPRESENTATIONS

Consultation responses

8.1 These are reproduced in full at Appendix A.

Neighbour notification/site notice responses
 
8.2 These are reproduced in full at Appendix B.

9. CONSIDERATIONS

9. Main Issues

9.1 The main issues to consider are:

 Policy and Principle
 Impact on Street Scene and Surrounding Area
 Impact on Residential Amenity
 Impact on Highway Safety
 Trees

10. Principle of Development

10.1 The application site is located within an established residential area of Hemel Hempstead 
wherein accordance with Policy CS4 of the Core Strategy (2013) the principle of residential 
development is acceptable. 

10.2 Policies CS11, CS12 and CS13 seek to ensure  that development avoids large areas 
dominated by car parking, preserves attractive streetscapes, avoids disturbance to surrounding 

Page 31



properties and retains important trees or replaces them with suitable species if their loss is 
justified. 

10.3 Character Appraisal Area HCA3 (Warners End) states that the use of parts of areas of 
amenity land for car parking may be acceptable if the resulting visual impact does not adversely 
affect the character and appearance of the area and established landscaping.

11. Quality of Design / Impact on Visual Amenity

11.1 The amenity green is visible from the top of Elm Green but sits behind an area of existing car 
parking. Whilst the soft grass verge would be replaced with hard surfacing, the two trees on the 
green would be retained thus maintaining a degree of landscaping. Two areas of grass verge at 
either side of the access to Elm Green would also be maintained. 

11.2 A neighbouring comment has referred to another application for verge hardening on a verge 
close to the access with Elm Green (4/02275/19/FUL) and questioned the need for both schemes. 
Whilst this scheme should be assessed on its own merits, it should be noted that the scheme on 
Daggs Dell Road would not incorporate the entire grass verge. Again a strip of verge and the tree 
located on it adjacent to the access to Elm Green would be retained. The verge and associated 
trees directly adjacent to the access to Daggs Dell from Polehanger Lane would also remain under 
4/02275/19/FUL. Landscaping further down Daggs Dell to the west would also remain and an 
amenity area on Maple Green would be maintained. 

11.3 The amenity area on Maple Green was considered a potential site for a new car parking area, 
but following communication between the applicant and the Trees and Woodlands Department, 
the site at Elm Green was preferred as no trees would need to be removed to make way for the 
development. 

11.4 Another comment has queried the potential use of another site. However, this application 
should be assessed on its own merits and acceptability in policy terms. 

11.5 Due to the above, it is considered the loss of the amenity green on Elm Green would not 
unduly impact upon the surrounding area. Thus, the application complies with Policy CS11, CS12 
and the Character Appraisal for HCA3: Warners End (2004). 

12. Impact on Residential Amenity

12.1 The proposal would not have an adverse impact on residential amenity in terms of loss of 
light or privacy.

12.2 Spring Fields playing fields is located directly north and north east of the site and is available 
for use by local residents in combination with their rear gardens. Therefore, it is not considered the 
proposal would result in a lack of amenity space provision for residents within the area. 

13. Impact on Highway Safety and Parking

13.1 Hertfordshire County Highways Authority have no objections to the proposal. The 
manoeuvring distance behind the bays is 4.8m. This is below the 6m standard as set out in Saved 
Appendix 5 of the Local Plan (2004). However, all of the bays are 3m in depth which exceeds the 
2.4m width as set out in Appendix 5.

13.2 It is the view of the applicant’s engineer that this increased width allows for a reduced 
manoeuvring distance behind the bays and guidance notes have been provided with respect to 
this. A tracking plan has also been submitted to show that vehicles can successfully manoeuvre 
out of the bays. 

Page 32



14. Impact on Trees and Landscaping

14.1 The Trees and Woodlands officer has no objection to the proposal. It has been advised that 
protective fencing should be in place during construction to protect the root protection areas of the 
properties. This would be secured by condition. 

10. CONCLUSION

10.1 The application is recommended for approval. 

11.  Recommendation

11.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

 1. The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of three years from the 
date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

 2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans/documents:

DBC/019/007

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
 3. Before being brought in to use the new parking areas hereby approved shall be surfaced in 

porous paving or tarmacadam or similar durable bound material and arrangements shall be 
made for surface water from the site to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it 
does not  discharge in to highway. 

Reason: To avoid the carriage of extraneous material surface water from the site into the 
highway so as to safeguard the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy CS31 
of the Core Strategy (2013).

 4. No work (including site clearance) in relation to the development hereby approved shall be 
undertaken until full details setting out how retained trees shall be protected, in accordance 
with BS5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction), have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Details shall include:

o A scaled Tree Protection Plan showing the approved development layout and 
retained trees (surveyed in accordance with BS5837:2012), to include their accurate crown 
spreads and root protection areas (RPAs).
o The position and specification of tree protection fencing in accordance with 
BS5837:2012 (as applicable).
o The position and specification of ground protection in accordance with 
BS5837:2012 (as applicable). 

There shall be no excavation, changes in levels, storage of materials or access within the 
RPA of retained trees unless previously specified and agreed.

The works must then be carried out according to the approved details.

Page 33



Reason:  In order to ensure that damage does not occur to trees and hedges during 
building operations in accordance with saved Policy 99 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan 
(2004), Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraph 170 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

Informatives:

 1. Planning permission consent has been granted for this proposal. Discussion with the 
applicant to seek an acceptable solution was not necessary in this instance. The Council 
has therefore acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the Framework (paragraph 
38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2015.

 2. Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 
1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the 
free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in 
the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or 
partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements before  construction works commence. Further information is available via 
the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx 
or by telephoning 0300 1234047.

APPENDIX A: CONSULTEE RESPONSES

Consultee Comments

Trees & Woodlands No trees are proposed for removal within this site and I have no 
concerns. I have discussed with Gill and advised protective fencing is 
required to protect the Root Protection Area.

Hertfordshire 
Highways (HCC)

Proposal
Installation of 13 parking bays on amenity land 

Decision
Notice is given under article 18 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 that the 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority does not wish to 
restrict the grant of permission subject to the following conditions: 

CONDITIONS: 
1. Before being brought in to use the new parking areas hereby 
approved shall be surfaced in porous paving or tarmacadam or similar 
durable bound material and arrangements shall be made for surface 
water from the site to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that 
it does not discharge in to highway. 

Page 34



Reason: To avoid the carriage of extraneous material surface water 
from the site into the highway so as to safeguard the interest of highway 
safety. 

INFORMATIVES: 
1. Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 
of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or 
excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway 
or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public 
highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully 
or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain 
their permission and requirements before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-
licences/business-licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

COMMENTS 
This application is for Installation of 13 parking bays on amenity land. 

The site is located opposite 7 Elm Green, which is an unclassified local 
access road. 

ANALYSIS 
The application is submitted by Dacorum Council, the LPA. 

ACCESS/PARKING 
The application site is surrounded by residential properties and while 
the proposed additional parking spaces will remove two off street 
parking spaces, it will provide 13 additional off-street parking spaces. 

CONCLUSION 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority considers the 
proposal would not have a severe residual impact on the safety and 
operation of the adjoining highways. 

APPENDIX B: NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES

Number of Neighbour Comments

Neighbour
Consultations

Contributors Neutral Objections Support

0 1 0 2 0

Neighbour Responses

Page 35



Object (O), Support (S), 
Representation (R)

Comments

O Comments: I object to this application on two grounds; questionable 
necessity and environmental aspects.

The area in question is currently an amenity green with no road passing 
through and is therefore the application is in a different category to 
simple verge hardening where a road already exists. There is currently 
an application for verge hardening in Daggs Dell Road, at the top of 
Elm Green, where eight new car spaces are to be created 
(4/02275/19/FUL). This will convert grass verges, on which cars 
already park, to parking spaces and is eminently reasonable. To 
obliterate an entire green, unless absolutely necessary, is not, 
especially as the Daggs Dell Road development may well ease parking 
in Elm Green. There is also potential to enlarge the current parking 
space at the top of Elm Green, making a further two or three spaces 
available to residents without harming the green itself. There are 
currently no plans to do this, although it might make sense to 
incorporate it into the Daggs Dell Road scheme.

I would suggest withholding planning permission for the Elm Green 
development until the Daggs Dell Road verge hardening has been 
completed and its impact assessed. I have lived on Elm Green for 
twelve years and have never had a problem parking, and therefore 
question the necessity of the proposal, particularly as the Daggs Dell 
Road development may alleviate any difficulties perceived by others. 
Immediate access to houses from a car when unloading shopping 
(cited by some neighbours I have spoken to as a reason for supporting 
the proposal, rather than an inability to park), I do not believe is a 
sufficient justification, in these days of online grocery delivery, for the 
destruction of a green.

With regard to environmental aspects, I note that the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) to the Dacorum Borough Local Plan on 
Water conservation contains the following as the second bullet point in 
section 5.2:

- Use of porous surfaces where possible.

I understand that the proposal under discussion is to replace the green 
with a non-porous surface. Porous surfaces are perfectly acceptable 
for parking areas as they have to cope only with slow moving or 
stationary vehicles and do not have to withstand the physical 
punishment suffered by road surfaces. I submit that the current 
application goes against Council policy in this respect.
Section 2.3 of the SPD on Energy Efficiency and Conservation contains 
the following:

- Policy INF4 in RPG9 states that in planning the future development of 
the region and activities within it, priority should be given to energy 

Page 36



conservation and to maximising the use of renewable energy sources 
as an alternative to fossil fuels.

It seems to me that in order to comply with this policy, the Council 
should be providing Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCPs) when 
creating new car parking facilities. There are no plans to do so. I submit 
that the current application is remis in this respect.

I should like the opportunity to address the Development Management 
Committee when it meets to consider this application.

O What is the utilisation of the existing garage block opposite 27 
Polehanger lane, a lot of these appear unused and subject to 
vandalism. Could this space be used as an alternative to losing amenity 
land?

Would the existing boundary hedge/ fence be relocated to prevent 
vehicles accessing the remaining amenity green, which has been a 
problem until additional posts were installed adjacent to the above 
garage block.

Page 37



Item 5d and related application 5e

4/02266/19/FHA 4/02267/19/LBC – RETENTION OF GARDEN SHED

65 ST.JOHNS ROAD, HEMEL HEMPSTEAD. HERTS HP1 1QQ

  

Page 38

Agenda Item 5d



Item 5d and related application 5e

4/02266/19/FHA 4/02267/19/LBC – RETENTION OF GARDEN SHED

65 ST.JOHNS ROAD, HEMEL HEMPSTEAD. HERTS HP1 1QQ

Page 39



INDEX
ITEM NUMBER: 5d

4/02266/19/FHA Retention of existing shed in Garden.
Site Address: 65 St Johns Road Hemel Hempstead HP1 1QQ   
Applicant/Agent: Mr Allen
Case Officer: Neil Robertson
Parish/Ward: No Parish Boxmoor

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1 That planning permission be GRANTED.

2. SUMMARY

2.1 The proposal is to be considered by committee due to the application being made by a 
councillor. It is for the retention of a garden shed and storage structure within the curtilage of a 
grade II listed building. The shed and store have been at the site since 2003. 

3. SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 The existing house is part of a symmetrical semi detached pair comprising numbers 63 and 65. 
Two other pairs of matching houses 55 & 57 and 59 &61 are located adjacent and form a pleasant 
group. These are all of two storeys constructed in flint with red brick pilasters and hipped slate 
roofs. All have gardens to the rear. 

4. PROPOSAL

4.1 The proposal is for the retention of a shed and a storage building. These are modest in scale 
of single storey with timber boarded exterior and a shallow felt roof. 

5. PLANNING HISTORY

Planning Applications 

4/02267/19/LBC - Retention of existing shed in Garden. 
PDE - 

4/04098/15/LBC - Two storey rear extension and alterations 
GRA - 30th March 2016

4/04097/15/FHA - Two storey rear extension and alterations 
GRA - 30th March 2016

4/00772/15/PRE - Two storey extension 
ROB - 25th March 2015

4/00512/04/LBC - Remove existing timber floorboards, supports and joists.  replace with solid 
concrete flooring in the hallway 
GRA - 7th April 2004

Page 40



4/00469/03/LBC - Remove garage door, replace with window, and internal works to provide new 
kitchen.  Remove present kitchen to create show and utility room and construct firewall 
GRA - 4th April 2003

4/00379/98/LBC - Conversion of garage to shower and utility rooms 
REF - 6th August 1998

6. PLANNING POLICIES

Main Documents:

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 2006-2031 (adopted September 2013)
Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1999-2011 (adopted April 2004)

Relevant Policies:

Core Strategy - Policy CS27: Quality of the Historic Environment
Local Plan - Saved Policy 119: Development Affecting Listed Buildings
National Planning Policy Framework - Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment

7. CONSTRAINTS

Grade 2 Listed Building
45.7m Air Dir Limit
CIL Zone 3
Former Land Use (Risk Zone)
LHR Wind Turbine
Residential Character Area
SSSI Impact Risk Zone
Town Centre/Local Centre

8. REPRESENTATIONS

Consultation responses

8.1 These are reproduced in full at Appendix A.

Neighbour notification/site notice responses
 
8.2 These are reproduced in full at Appendix B.

9. CONSIDERATIONS

Impact upon the setting of the listed building.

9.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that local 
authorities should have special regard to preserving the setting of listed buildings. This 
requirement should be given great weight in the planning process. 

Page 41



9.2  The sheds have been on the site since 2003. They are modest storage structures constructed 
in timber with shallow felt roofs. It is understood that they replaced similar structures. The 
materials, finish and scale of the buildings are in keeping with the character of the listed building. 
They are located at the point in the garden furthest from the listed building and are partially 
screened by planting. It should also be noted that they are on a similar building line and of a 
similar scale to the shed in the adjacent property. 

9,3  Numbers 55 & 57 and 59 and 61 have small brick back to back sheds located in their gardens 
adjacent to the houses. These have slate roofs. They appear to have been constructed in 
immediate post war period probably the early 1950s.  The back to back sheds for 63 and 65 
appears to have been demolished towards the end of the 20th century possibly late 1980s. As this 
was not a curtilage listed structure this would not have needed listed building consent to be 
demolished. 

9.4 Having carefully considered the sheds and their impact on the setting and significance of the 
listed buildings in the whole is not considered that these detract from the setting of the listed 
building. They do not harm the significance of the listed building or its setting. Therefore having 
had special regards to preserving the setting of the listed buildings it is considered that the 
proposals are acceptable and should be approved. As no harm to the setting of the listed building 
has been identified the balancing exercise as noted in the framework does not need to be entered 
into. 

10 CONCLUSION

10.1 The sheds do not harm the setting of the listed building and are therefore acceptable. 

11. RECOMMENDATION 

11.1 that planning permission be GRANTED
 

 1. No Conditions

APPENDIX A: CONSULTEE RESPONSES

Consultee Comments

APPENDIX B: NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES

Number of Neighbour Comments

Neighbour
Consultations

Contributors Neutral Objections Support

0 0 0 0 0

Neighbour Responses

Page 42



Object (O), Support (S), 
Representation (R)

Comments

Page 43



Page 44



ITEM NUMBER: 5e

4/02267/19/LBC Retention of existing shed in Garden.
Site Address: 65 St Johns Road Hemel Hempstead HP1 1QQ   
Applicant/Agent: Mr Allen 
Case Officer: Neil Robertson
Parish/Ward: No Parish Boxmoor

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1 That Listed Building Consent be granted.

2. SUMMARY
2.1 The proposal is for the retention of a shed and storage structure in the grounds of a listed 
building. These are located at the end of the garden furthest from the house and are of small 
scale. They do not detract from the setting or significance of the listed building. The application 
needs to go to committee due to the applicant being a councillor. 

3. SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1  The existing property is 19th century two storey in flint with red brick pilasters. The roof is a 
shallow hipped welsh slate. There is a recessed wing to the right. It forms a pair with 63 and part 
of a group of three matching dwellings 55-57, 59-61 and 63-65. There is a domestic garden to the 
rear. The adjacent property (63) has a shed on the same building line as those in the garden.

4. PROPOSAL

4.1 The proposal is to retain the existing shed/ store. These are modest single storey structures in 
keeping with the general character of the area. The shed has a timber boarded exterior and a 
shallow felt roof. The store is a more basic structure with a roof. It is obscured by planting.

5. PLANNING HISTORY

Planning Applications

4/02266/19/FHA - Retention of existing shed in Garden. 
PDE - 

4/04098/15/LBC - Two storey rear extension and alterations 
GRA - 30th March 2016

4/04097/15/FHA - Two storey rear extension and alterations 
GRA - 30th March 2016

4/00772/15/PRE - Two storey extension 
ROB - 25th March 2015

4/00512/04/LBC - Remove existing timber floorboards, supports and joists.  replace with solid 
concrete flooring in the hallway 
GRA - 7th April 2004

Page 45

Agenda Item 5e



4/00469/03/LBC - Remove garage door, replace with window, and internal works to provide new 
kitchen.  remove present kitchen to create show and utility room and construct firewall 
GRA - 4th April 2003

4/00379/98/LBC - Conversion of garage to shower and utility rooms 
REF - 6th August 1998

 
6. PLANNING POLICIES

Main Documents:

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 2006-2031 (adopted September 2013)
Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1999-2011 (adopted April 2004)

Relevant Policies:

Core Strategy - Policy CS27: Quality of the Historic Environment
Local Plan - Saved Policy 119: Development Affecting Listed Buildings
National Planning Policy Framework - Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment

7. CONSTRAINTS

Grade 2 Listed Building
45.7m Air Dir Limit
CIL Zone 3
Former Land Use (Risk Zone)
LHR Wind Turbine
Residential Character Areas
SSSI Impact Risk Zone
Town Centre/Local Centre

8. REPRESENTATIONS

Consultation responses

8.1 These are reproduced in full at Appendix A.

Neighbour notification/site notice responses
 
8.2 These are reproduced in full at Appendix B.

9. CONSIDERATIONS

Impact upon the setting of the listed building.

9.1. The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that local 
authorities should have special regard to preserving the setting of listed buildings. This 
requirement should be given great weight in the planning process. 

Page 46



9.2  The sheds have been on the site since 2003. They are modest storage structures constructed 
in timber with shallow felt roofs. It is understood that they replaced similar structures. The 
materials, finish and scale of the buildings are in keeping with the character of the listed building. 
They are located at the point in the garden furthest from the listed building and are partially 
screened by planting. It should also be noted that they are on a similar building line and of a 
similar scale to the shed in the adjacent property. 

9,3  Numbers 55 & 57 and 59 and 61 have small brick back to back sheds located in their gardens 
adjacent to the houses. These have slate roofs. They appear to have been constructed in 
immediate post war period probably the early 1950s. The back to back sheds for 63 and 65 appear 
to have been demolished towards the end of the 20th century possibly late 1980s. As this was not 
a curtilage listed structure this would not have needed listed building consent to be demolished. 

9.4 Having carefully considered the sheds and their impact on the setting and significance of the 
listed buildings in the whole it is not believed that these detract from the setting of the listed 
building. They do not harm the significance of the listed building or its setting. Therefore having 
had special regards to preserving the setting of the listed buildings it is considered that the 
proposals are acceptable and should be approved. As harm has not been identified to the setting 
of the listed building the balancing exercise as noted in the framework does not need to be entered 
into. 

10  CONCLUSION

10.1 The sheds do not harm the setting of the listed building and are therefore acceptable. 

11. RECOMMENDATION

11.1 That Listed Building Consent be GRANTED

No Conditions

APPENDIX A: CONSULTEE RESPONSES

Consultee Comments

APPENDIX B: NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES

Number of Neighbour Comments

Neighbour
Consultations

Contributors Neutral Objections Support

0 0 0 0 0

Neighbour Responses

Object (O), Support (S), 
Representation (R)

Comments

Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Item 5f 

4/00718/19/FUL – CHANGE OF USE OF AGRICULTURAL LAND TO DOG WALKING PADDOCK 
WITH ASSOCIATED CAR PARKING AND VEHICLE CROSSOVER. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 5f



Item 5f 

4/00718/19/FUL – CHANGE OF USE OF AGRICULTURAL LAND TO DOG WALKING PADDOCK 
WITH ASSOCIATED CAR PARKING AND VEHICLE CROSSOVER.

Page 51



4/00718/19/FUL Change of use from agricultural land to dog walking paddock 
with associated car parking and new vehicle crossover.

Site Address: Land South The Brambles, Flaunden Lane, Bovingdon

Applicant/Agent: Paddocks For Paws

Case Officer: Elspeth Palmer

Parish/Ward: Flaunden

1. Recommendation

1.1 That planning permission be GRANTED.

2. Summary

2.1 This application seeks retrospective planning permission for a change of use 
from agricultural land to dog walking paddock with associated parking. A new 
vehicle crossover is proposed. It is proposed that the 2.7 acre field be used 
for dog owners to walk their dogs. 

2.2 The site is located within the Green Belt wherein the provision of appropriate 
facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a change of use) for 
outdoor recreation, as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it, are 
not inappropriate in the Green Belt – Para 145 of the NPPF.

2.3 The facilities and change of use would preserve the openness of the Green 
Belt by nature of the small car parking area being the only physical change to 
the site.

2.4 There would not be an adverse impact on neighbouring properties as a result 
of the proposals and satisfactory parking has been provided on site.  The 
access to the development would not compromise highway safety.  The 
design and form of the development would be in character with the area 
which is open and rural in appearance.

3. Site Description

3.1 The site is located on the eastern side of Flaunden Lane, 180 metres from the 
junction of Flaunden Lane and Chipperfield Road. The field was part of a 
local farm’s orchard and contains fruit trees of some considerable age.

3.2 The land is adjacent to the dwelling “The Brambles” – the residents of this 
dwelling are operating the dog walking paddock.

Page 52



3.3 The site is fully fenced and hedging has been planted to complement the 
fencing. The applicant has advised that the fencing and gate was constructed 
when the field was bought.  The fencing is approx. 1.5 metres – 1.67 metres 
around the field depending on the slope of the land and 1.2 metres high 
between the owners land and the car parking area.

3.4 The nearest dwellings from the boundary of the field are some distance, the 
nearest being Southcoombe some 25m to the north. 1-18 Boundary 
Cottages, Maulischau and Longdene (facing onto Chipperfield Road) are 65-
75m from the closest boundary of the field. The field is bounded by 
agricultural and business buildings at Greinan Farm to the east. The nearest 
dwellings to the west on the opposite side of Flaunden Lane (Copse Hill 
House, Hunter Lodge and Heathfield) are at least 100m distant from the 
boundary of the field.

3.5 The gate was constructed to allow access by UK Power Network who need 
access across the site.

4. Proposal

4.1 The application seeks retrospective planning permission for a change of use 
from agricultural land to dog walking paddock (the 2.7 acre field is being used 
for dog owners to walk their dogs) with associated parking.  The changes to 
the car park are proposed and the new vehicle crossover is proposed.  

4.2 The existing parking area is considered too large so it is proposed to return 
some of this area back to open land with adequate room for two vehicles to 
park and manoeuvre.

4.3 All dog walking sessions are pre-booked for a half-an-hour or hour slot. Dog 
walkers cannot turn up speculatively. The field is booked exclusively for the 
dog or dogs and their owners and the owners walk their own dogs. The 
average for January 2019 was 1.5 dogs per session booked.

4.4 The field is not lit. No walks take place before dawn nor after dark and no 
additional lighting is installed or proposed.

4.5 The reasons that people use a dog walking area include:
 dog owners have a safe and secure enclosed space for dogs to roam off a 

lead;
 many countryside and park walks are intersected by roads or fields occupied 

by animals, making off-lead walking more difficult;
 some dogs are aggressive with other dogs and some timid or nervous;
 the benefits of the walking field is that it is a safe, controlled and enclosed 

space.

Page 53



4.6 The proposed operating hours are 8am – 4pm weekdays and weekends in 
Winter and 8am – 6pm in the Summer.

5. Relevant Planning History

5.1 None for the subject site.

6. Policies

6.1 National Policy Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Circular 11/95

6.2 Adopted Core Strategy

NP1 - Supporting Development
CS1 - Distribution of Development
CS5 - The Green Belt
CS9 - Management of Roads
CS11 - Quality of Neighbourhood Design
CS12 - Quality of Site Design

6.3 Saved Policies of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan

Policy 13

7. Constraints

 Green Belt
 Area of Special Control for Adverts
 LHR Wind Turbine
 10.7m AIR DIR LIMIT
 CIL2

8. Representations

Consultation responses

8.1These are reproduced in full at Appendix A

Neighbour notification/site notice responses

8.2These are summarised in Appendix B.

8.3 All members have received a copy of the document submitted in objection to 

Page 54



the proposal.

9. Considerations

9.1 Main Issues

 Policy and principle
 Impact on openness
 Impact on neighbours
 Impact on Highway safety and Parking Provision

Policy and Principle

9.2 The site is located within the Green Belt wherein the provision of appropriate 
facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a change of use) for outdoor 
recreation as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do 
not conflict with the purposes of including land within it, are not inappropriate in the 
Green Belt – Para 145 of the NPPF.

9.3 Policy CS5: Green Belt states that the Council will apply national Green Belt 
Policy to protect the openness and character of the Green Belt, local distinctiveness 
and the physical separation of settlements.

9.4 The application site is located within the green belt and the proposal will provide 
an outdoor recreation use and small parking area for those visiting the site.  It is 
considered that the use and facilities will preserve the openness of the Green Belt.

Impact on Neighbours

9.5 As a result of local objection a Noise Report was submitted by the applicant. This 
assessment was carried out during the operation of the dog walking paddock 
between 25th July and 30th July, 2019. The owners dogs were kept inside during the 
operation of the dog walking paddock.

9.6 The Noise Assessment concluded that there should be no reason on the basis of 
noise that consent should not be granted for dog exercising in the paddock.

9.7 The Noise Pollution Officer has no objection to the development proceeding.

9.8 Operating hours and the total number of dogs allowed to use the paddock at any 
one time will be controlled via condition.

Impact on Highway safety and parking provision

9.9 The Highways Authority have no objections to the proposed use or the new 
vehicle cross over subject to suggested conditions.

Response to Neighbour comments

9.10 All those comments which are planning considerations have been addressed 
above.  These include impact on openness, noise and highway safety.

Page 55



10.Conclusions

10.1 The impacts of the proposal have been taken into consideration, along 
with representations received from consultees and the neighbouring 
properties.  The proposal is considered acceptable in terms of impact on 
openness, neighbours and highway safety.

11.Recommendation – That planning permission be GRANTED for the 
reasons referred to above and subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The dog walking paddock shall only be open to customers between 8am – 
4pm weekdays and weekends in Winter and 8am – 6pm in the Summer.

Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the occupants of neighbouring dwellings 
and to comply with CS12.

3. Within 4 months of this planning permission the vehicular access shall be 
provided, the construction of such works to be undertaken to the Highway 
Authority satisfaction and specification, and by a contractor who is authorised 
to work in the public highway. The vehicular access thereafter shall be 
retained at the position shown on the approved plan drawing number 1852-
001_BOUND[2654] Arrangement shall be made for surface water drainage to 
be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not discharge from 
or onto the highway carriageway. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous 
material or surface water from or onto the highway in accordance with Policy 5 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018) and Core Strategy Policy 12.

4. Within 4 months of this planning permission visibility splay (shown on the 
approved plan drawing number 1852-001_BOUND[2654]) measuring 2.4 x 66 
metres shall be provided to each side of the access where it meets the 
highway and such splays shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from 
any obstruction between 600mm and 2m above the level of the adjacent 
highway carriageway. 

Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018) and Core Strategy Policy 12.

5. Within 4 months of the date of this planning permission any access gate(s), 
bollard, chain or other means of obstruction shall be hung to open inwards set 

Page 56



back and thereafter retained a minimum distance of 5.5 metres from the edge 
of the highway. 
Reason: To enable vehicles to safely draw off the highway before the gate(s) or obstruction 
is opened and/or closed in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018) and Core Strategy Policy 12.

6. The maximum number of dogs to use the approved dog walking paddock at 
any one time is 4.

Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the occupants of neighbouring dwellings 
and to comply with CS12.

7. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans/documents:

location and site plan
visibility splays Drawing No. 1852-001_BOUND[2654] 
proposed car parking area
Environmental Noise Survey Prepared by  AAD Applied Acoustic Design on 
4th September, 2019
Design and access statement revision A
CIL

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Article 35 Statement

Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-
actively through positive engagement with the applicant during the determination 
process which led to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore acted 
pro-actively in line with the requirements of the Framework (paragraph 38) and in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2015.  

Informatives:
Informatives HCC as Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the following 
Advisory Notes (AN) to ensure that any works within the highway are carried out in 
accordance with the provisions of the Highway Act 1980. 
AN1) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials 
associated with the construction of this development should be provided within the 
site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere 
with the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from 
the Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further information is 
available via the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-
and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspxor by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
AN2) Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the 
Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to 
wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this 

Page 57



development is likely to result in the public highway or public right of way network 
becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx or by 
telephoning 0300 Mud on highway 
AN3) Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to 
deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act 
gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the 
party responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to 
ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development are in 
a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the 
highway. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-
roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

Page 58



Appendix A

Bovingdon Parish Council

Comments dated 25th October

If the Planning Officer confirms that this is an accepted use in the Green Belt, then 
we would ask that there is a time limit restriction between 10.30 - 15.30 , Monday to 
Friday and not weekends.

Comments dated 23rd April

Our Planning Committee met on 15 April and considered this application and their 
comments are as follows:

 Object:

 no very special circumstances advanced for development;
 destroy openness of Green Belt;
 barn is too large;
 7-day a week operation unacceptable;
 new entrance to car park is dangerous as on apex of curve in road;
 site is surrounded by housing on three sides;
 noise from dogs will disturb local residents;
 new car park unnecessary as sufficient car parking in front of property
 boundary fencing is not high enough
 contrary to DBC Policy CS11 

 If the Case Officer is minded to recommend acceptance of this application, then it is 
suggested that conditions should be attached to the approval.  That is, restrict hours 
of operation from 10:30 to 15:30 Monday to Friday only; maximum of four dogs at 
any one time; not allow dog boarding and increase height of perimeter fence.

Noise Pollution Officer

Comments dated 9/12/19

The obligation is on the applicant to provide the noise assessment. If any 
assessment (regardless of any development site) does not come up to standard the 
obligation continues to sit with the applicant to demonstrate this is a sustainable 
development. We would only conduct our own noise survey if we were challenging 
the existing survey as grounds for objection and needed our own evidence. 

If an objector is making an issue of the owners dogs being shut indoors during the 
noise survey I do struggle to understand how this might be fraudulent. The purpose 
of the noise assessment is to account for noise from the development being formed, 
and which may consider cumulative impact. From memory the diary evidence 
submitted by the objector showed very limited barking, and not in my opinion of a 
significant observed adverse effect level (SOAEL). I assume there has been no 
further evidence since the last submission.

Page 59



Comments dated 2/10/19

I have no objection to the development proceeding. 

This is based on the apparent frequency of dog barking, rather than the assessment 
of noise levels which I feel under-represents the change in sound levels when having 
considering dog barking is an impulsive noise event. However as the assessment 
indicates, barking from the use of the paddock are short-lived and sporadic events 
which are unlikely to result in significant impact. 

Comments dated 27th May

Picking up on an earlier email from the Case Officer and that local residents have 
raised objection on noise grounds it would be reasonable to ask for a noise 
assessment to determine if the development is, or can be made acceptable. You can 
accept this latest email as a revision to any earlier comments which  I believe may 
have recorded no obs on noise or AQ grounds. 

I am not aware of ECP having received any complaints of noise nuisance arising 
from the use of the site, but I would certainly suggest that objectors are actively 
encouraged to file logs of noise disruption when considering the application. We can 
pick up a noise complaint re nuisance if residents wish to complain, but what I would 
want to highlight is that a noise assessment might not effectively characterise noise 
from the application site, i.e. how often and for how long noise persists. It would be 
useful to compare and contrast resident testimony against any noise report. 

Comments dated 15th April

The site is proposed close to existing residential and there are some concerns of 
noise from the development proposal. I have read the supporting design and access 
statement and note that the applications would be content to accept a condition that 
restricts the number dogs that could be walked in any one session to no more than 4 
(paragraph 1.21). I would advise this is secured as a condition against the 
development as well as condition on the hours as put forward of 08:00 – 16:00 
weekdays and weekends in winter and 08:00 – 19:00 in British Summer Time 
(paragraph 1.20). 

The reason reflects guidance contained in Policy CS32 - Policy CS32 – any 
development proposals which could cause harm from a significant increase in 
pollution (into the air, soil or any water body) by virtue of the emissions of fumes, 
particles, effluent, radiation, smell light, noise or noxious substances, will not be 
permitted.

Highways

Comments dated 2nd December

Notice is given under article 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 that the Hertfordshire County 

Page 60



Council as Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of permission 
subject to the following conditions: 
Subject to the conditions and informatives, the proposals are unlikely to generate 
any extra movements which would ultimately lead to demonstrable harm to the 
highway network in terms of free flow and capacity.
Conditions
Con1) Within 4 months of consent the vehicular access shall be provided, the 
construction of such works to be undertaken to the Highway Authority satisfaction 
and specification, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in the public 
highway. The vehicular access thereafter shall be retained at the position shown on 
the approved plan drawing number 1852-001_BOUND[2654] Arrangement shall be 
made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately so 
that it does not discharge from or onto the highway carriageway. 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous 
material or surface water from or onto the highway in accordance with Policy 5 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018).
Con2) Within 4 months of consent a visibility splay (shown on the approved plan 
drawing number 1852-001_BOUND[2654]) measuring 2.4 x 66 metres shall be 
provided to each side of the access where it meets the highway and such splays 
shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction between 600mm 
and 2m above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway. 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018).
Con3) Within 4 months of consent of the development hereby permitted any access 
gate(s), bollard, chain or other means of obstruction shall be hung to open inwards 
set back and thereafter retained a minimum distance of 5.5 metres from the edge of 
the highway. 
Reason: To enable vehicles to safely draw off the highway before the gate(s) or 
obstruction is opened and/or closed in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s 
Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
Informatives
HCC as Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the following Advisory Notes 
(AN) to ensure that any works within the highway are carried out in accordance with 
the provisions of the Highway Act 1980. 
AN1) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials 
associated with the construction of this development should be provided within the 
site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere 
with the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from 
the Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further information is 
available via the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-
and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspxor by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
AN2) Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the 
Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to 
wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this 

Page 61



development is likely to result in the public highway or public right of way network 
becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx or by 
telephoning 0300 Mud on highway 
AN3) Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to 
deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act 
gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the 
party responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to 
ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development are in 
a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the 
highway. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-
roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
Comment / Analysis The proposals consist of a change of use from agricultural use 
to Dog Walking Paddock (sui generis use class) with associated car parking 
(retrospective) and a new proposed vehicle cross over and erection of new, open 
timber barn The site is situated on Flaunden Lane which is an unnumbered classified 
road and provides a local access function within the road hierarchy; it is subject to a 
40mph speed limit. The Highway Authority has commented previously on a similar 
application and the remarks remain the same as follows: The proposals are 
retrospective and include a new vehicle crossover. The existing access from 
Flaunden Lane to a car parking area is over a standard kerb. The applicant should 
note that driving up over a kerb / verge is an offence which the HA has powers to 
enforce. I further note that the access is gated this needs to be built in accordance 
with the Highway Authority standards and specification as seen in the condition 
above. Subject to the conditions and informatives, the proposals are unlikely to 
generate any extra movements which would ultimately lead to demonstrable harm to 
the highway network in terms of free flow and capacity 

Comments dated 1st October

Notice is given under article 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 that the Hertfordshire County 
Council as Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of permission 
subject to the following conditions: 
Subject to the conditions and informatives, the proposals are unlikely to generate 
any extra movements which would ultimately lead to demonstrable harm to the 
highway network in terms of free flow and capacity.
Conditions
Con1) Within 4 months of consent the vehicular access shall be provided, the 
construction of such works to be undertaken to the Highway Authority satisfaction 
and specification, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in the public 
highway. The vehicular access thereafter shall be retained at the position shown on 
the approved plan drawing number 1852-001_BOUND[2654] Arrangement shall be 
made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately so 

Page 62



that it does not discharge from or onto the highway carriageway. Reason: To ensure 
satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous material or surface 
water from or onto the highway in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018).
Con2) Within 4 months of consent a visibility splay (shown on the approved plan 
drawing number 1852-001_BOUND[2654]) measuring 2.4 x 66 metres shall be 
provided to each side of the access where it meets the highway and such splays 
shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction between 600mm 
and 2m above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway. Reason: To ensure 
construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of highway safety in 
accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018).
Con3) Within 4 months of consent of the development hereby permitted any access 
gate(s), bollard, chain or other means of obstruction shall be hung to open inwards 
set back and thereafter retained a minimum distance of 5.5 metres from the edge of 
the highway. Reason: To enable vehicles to safely draw off the highway before the 
gate(s) or obstruction is opened and/or closed in accordance with Policy 5 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
Informatives
HCC as Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the following Advisory Notes 
(AN) to ensure that any works within the highway are carried out in accordance with 
the provisions of the Highway Act 1980. AN1) Storage of materials: The applicant is 
advised that the storage of materials associated with the construction of this 
development should be provided within the site on land which is not public highway, 
and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is not 
possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority before 
construction works commence. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspxor by 
telephoning 0300 1234047. AN2) Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence 
under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority 
or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public 
right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public highway or public right 
of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact 
the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before 
construction works commence. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx or by 
telephoning 0300 Mud on highway AN3) Road Deposits: It is an offence under 
section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud or other debris on the public 
highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to 
remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best 
practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site 
during construction of the development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or 
deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available 
via the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
Comment / Analysis

Page 63



The proposals consist of a change of use from agricultural use to Dog Walking 
Paddock (sui generis use class) with associated car parking (retrospective) and a 
new proposed vehicle cross over and erection of new, open timber barn The site is 
situated on Flaunden Lane which is an unnumbered classified road and provides a 
local access function within the road hierarchy; it is subject to a 40mph speed limit. 
The Highway Authority has commented previously on a similar application and the 
remarks remain the same as follows: The proposals are retrospective and include a 
new vehicle crossover. The existing access from Flaunden Lane to a car parking 
area is over a standard kerb. The applicant should note that driving up over a kerb / 
verge is an offence which the HA has powers to enforce. I further note that the 
access is gated this needs to be built in accordance with the Highway Authority 
standards and specification as seen in the condition above. Subject to the conditions 
and informatives, the proposals are unlikely to generate any extra movements which 
would ultimately lead to demonstrable harm to the highway network in terms of free 
flow and capacity. 

Page 64



Appendix B

Comments received from local residents:

One large document already circulated to members and also appended to this 
document.  There is a total of 2 objections to this application.

2 neighbour objections

 The fence is only 4ft high – this will not contain large or aggressive dogs. 
Fencing needs to be a minimum of 1.5 metres high increasing to 2 metres.

 Solar Lanterns have been placed, from time to time, on the fences nearest to 
Flaunden Lane;

 The applicant has dogs which bark when dogs visit the paddock creating a 
cacophony of noisy barking;

 The noise report is misleading, unreliable and most probably significantly 
understated;

 The statistics provided are meaningless;
 Car parking area is a destruction of Green Belt;
 The barn is a destruction of Green Belt;
 No need for a large barn;
 Vehicle cross over is a blind exit;
 Opening times are unacceptable as they don’t take into account the noise or 

nuisance;
 Flaunden Lane is a busy rat run and cars leaving the site cannot see far 

enough; and
 Traffic congestion.

3 emails of support

As a neighbour within 250 meters of this property I very much support this 
application as the work done so far has been exemplary and has greatly improved 
the vista and view of this part of Flaunden Lane.

The attention to detail and care that has been taken is second to none. It would also 
appear that all reasonable care has been taken as to not inconvenience the local 
neighbours.

With this level of care and attention then I could only hope that planning is granted 
as we need more neighbours like this that really care about the countryside and how 
it looks.

I support this application. The incumbents have improved the property 
immeasurably.

My only reservation is that the timber barn should not be used for housing dogs and 
that noise during unsocial hours be restricted.

We support this application. Much improved view from the lane and there has been 
no nuisance whatsoever (there are so many dogs around here anyway - we regularly 

Page 65



hear a dog barking after 10pm from bedroom - nothing to do with this dog walking 
paddock). Good use of the land and these changes do not impact on the Greenbelt 
in our view. 

Good luck with the new venture.

Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Agenda Item 6

6. APPEALS UPDATE

A. LODGED
19/00013/T
Windsor Court Corner Hall Hemel Hempstead HP3 9AW

B. WITHDRAWN

C. FORTHCOMING INQUIRIES
None

D. FORTHCOMING HEARINGS
None

E. DISMISSED

4/00245/19/FUL DIS 14/11/2019 Highlands
Kings Road
Berkhamsted
HP4 3BP

APPEAL DECISION Highlands.docx

F. ALLOWED

4/02993/18/FUL ALW 29/11/2019 320a High Street
Berkhamstead
HP4 1HT

Costs Appeal Allowed

Appeal Decision 320a High 
Street.pdf

Costs Decision 320a High 
Street.pdf

4/00974/19/ENA WWN 04/12/2019 18/04/2019 Honeybrook
St Margarets
Great Gaddesden
Hemel Hempstead
HP1 3BZ

27/11/2019

4/00976/19/ENA WWN 04/12/2019 18/04/2019 Honeybrook
St Margarets
Great Gaddesden
Hemel Hempstead
HP1 3BZ

27/11/2019

Page 141

Agenda Item 6

APPEAL%2520DECISION%2520Highlands.docx
Appeal%2520Decision%2520320a%2520High%2520Street.pdf
Appeal%2520Decision%2520320a%2520High%2520Street.pdf
Costs%2520Decision%2520320a%2520High%2520Street.pdf
Costs%2520Decision%2520320a%2520High%2520Street.pdf


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

  

 
 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 20 August 2019 by David 

Wallis BSc (HONS) PG DipEP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 14th November 2019 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/A1910/W/19/3230140 Highlands, Kings Road, 
Berkhamsted HP4 3BP 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 
• The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs A Wilton against the decision of Dacorum Borough 

Council. 
• The application Ref 4/00245/19/FUL, dated 31 January 2019, was refused by notice 

dated 1 April 2019. 
• The development proposed is construction of new dwelling and alteration/extension to 

existing dwelling. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issues 

2. The main issues for the appeal are the effect of the development upon: 

• the living conditions of nearby residents with particular regard to outlook 

• the living conditions of future occupiers of the development, with particular 
regard to outdoor space. 

Reasons 

Living conditions of nearby residents 

3. The appeal site comprises the private garden of Highlands. The land rises 
steeply from Kings Road and Newbury Grove, with a more gradual incline 
across the appeal site towards Oxfield Close. A belt of mature trees extends 
from the rear garden of the appeal site behind properties in Newbury Grove, 
Oxfield Close and Kingsdale Road. The appeal site itself is enclosed by 
hedgerows of varying height. Being open and undeveloped, the rear part of the 
appeal site is a landscaped setting that provides a sense of openness in the 
area and allows views to the surrounding trees.  

Page 142



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

4. A small number of dwellings back onto the appeal site. The rear facing windows 
on these dwellings predominantly look over their own respective garden areas 
but share the focal point of the appeal site. With the rising ground, the appeal 
site provides views to the sky, thus contributing to the sense of openness. 

5. The proposed new dwelling would be constrained by the size and nature of the 
space, with its flank and rear walls in close proximity to the site boundaries. 

 
Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3230140 

 

Only a small proportion of the new dwelling would be single storey. The two 
storey elements are bold and stark, a feature of this contemporary design. The 
new dwelling, due to its location and massing, would both fill and remove the 
open nature of the space. 

6. Whilst no-one has a right to a view, outlook should not be unduly obstructed or 
unacceptably harmed. With the appeal site on higher ground, the form, bulk 
and mass of the new dwelling would impose upon the skyline from the rear 
gardens of adjacent properties. With its close proximity to the appeal site 
boundaries, the new dwelling would be dominant within its space and impose 
itself upon the neighbour’s gardens and outlook. The wide span and 
proportions of the dwelling would result in significant visual intrusion. The 
dwelling would be unduly assertive and over-dominant to residents of 
neighbouring properties, harming their outlook to an unacceptable degree.  

7. My attention is drawn to the distances between the development and the 
neighbouring dwellings. However, the proposal would result in a substantial 
building intruding into an area which contributes to the outlook from the rear of 
neighbouring properties. Any mitigation of this intrusion offered by the 
separation distances from the rear elevations of existing dwellings would be 
reduced in effectiveness by the height of the dwelling on higher ground and the 
proximity to the site boundaries.  

8. The appellant points out that modifications to the design of the new dwelling 
have followed an earlier refused application. Nonetheless, the overall bulk and 
mass of the dwelling remain and are central to this appeal. Whilst the 
hedgerows on all site boundaries would screen the development to a degree, it 
would not significantly reduce the visual impact the dwelling would have upon 
nearby properties. 

9. I conclude that the proposal would cause unacceptable harm to the living 
conditions of existing occupiers with regard to outlook. This would be contrary 
to policies CS11 and CS12 of the adopted Dacorum Borough Council Core 
Strategy 2006 – 2031 (the Core Strategy). These policies, amongst other 
things, seek developments to respect adjoining properties. 

Living conditions of future occupiers  

10. I observed from my site visit that although the land rises steeply towards the 
appeal site, there are only gentle undulations on the site itself. There is 
certainly a stepped garden at present but not to a significant degree that 
renders any part of the existing garden area unusable or inaccessible to any 
potential user. From ground level, only glimpse views are available of other 
dwellings in the locality. The rear garden and grounds of Highlands are not 
therefore overlooked by any neighbouring occupier. 

Page 143



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

11. The new dwelling would be provided with separate parcels of garden space to 
the rear, but both are sizeable areas. A variety of hard and soft landscape 
surfaces are shown on the plans providing for different types of outdoor 
recreation. Whether taken individually or cumulatively, they would provide 
adequate outdoor space to support the future occupiers. 

12. Whilst the existing property of Highlands would lose a substantial amount of its 
garden to the new dwelling, it would retain a proportion behind its associated 
garage. The space is of a reasonable size to support private recreation, again 

 
                         2 

Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3230140 

 

with a mix of surfacing. The lack of a front garden would not diminish the 
ability of future occupiers to enjoy a quality outdoor space that is private and 
un-overlooked. 

13. The layout of the site provides parking, turning and manoeuvring space for 
both dwellings. There are no readily apparent deficiencies in the level of 
provision for either dwelling. The layout of the site is broadly comparable to 
other dwellings in the locality.  

14. I conclude that the proposal would not cause harm to the living conditions of 
future occupiers with regard to outdoor space provision. The proposal does not 
therefore conflict with policies CS11 or CS12 of the Core Strategy, that seek to 
enhance spaces between buildings and provide sufficient servicing space. 

Other Matters 

15. I note from the Local Planning Authority (LPA) appeal statement that there is 
no objection to the proposed remodelling and extension works to the dwelling 
of Highlands, taken in isolation. I note modifications have been made to the 
design following an earlier refused application and dismissed appeal.  

16. Although the extensions would raise the height of Highlands, this element of 
the appeal development would take place on the existing built-up part of the 
site. Highlands is a modest distance away from the nearest neighbouring 
properties of Ibthorpe, Treetops and The Orchard. The remodelled Highlands 
would also be at a very oblique angle to No 10 Oxfield Close. It would not 
therefore intrude unacceptably into the outlook of neighbouring occupiers. I 
conclude that this element of the proposal would not be harmful to the living 
conditions of these existing occupiers. However, the whole application is before 
me at this appeal and I have found harm in other respects. 

17. The appellant notes the proposal would not cause a loss of light nor a loss of 
privacy to neighbouring occupiers, and has made reference to the BRE 
assessment method. However, a lack of harm in these respects is not a benefit 
and so I attach little weight to these matters.  

18. My attention is drawn to a number of planning permissions in the local area 
whereby back land or ‘tandem’ development has taken place. However, there is 
no objection raised from the LPA with regards to this type of development in 
this instance. Whilst these other decisions show an increasing density, they do 
not share the landscape characteristics of the appeal site. In any case, each 
application and appeal should be determined on its own merits.  

Page 144



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

Conclusions 

19. Notwithstanding my conclusions with to the living conditions of future 
residents, I conclude that the proposal would harm the living conditions of 
nearby residents with regards to outlook. The proposal will therefore conflict 
with the development plan as a whole with regards to the quality of 
neighbourhood and site design and the effect on nearby properties. 

20. The appeal is dismissed. 

David Wallis 
INSPECTOR 

 
                         3 

Page 145



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Costs Decision 
Site visit made on 7 August 2019 

by Rebecca Thomas MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 29 November 2019 

 

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 

320a High Street, Berkhamsted, HP4 1HT 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 
322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

• The application is made by Philip Dean Limited on behalf of Mr S Williams for a partial 

award of costs against Dacorum Borough Council. 
• The appeal was against the refusal of planning permission for Change of Use and 

conversion of existing ground floor from veterinary practice into a two-bedroom flat; 
Roof extension at first floor to increase size of existing first floor flat to a larger two-
bedroom flat; Erection of two new-build two-bedroom apartments to the rear facing 
St.Johns Well Lane; Provision of car parking for five vehicles, five-bay cycle store and 
waste refuse store. 

 

 

Decision  

1. The application for a partial award of costs is allowed in the terms set out 
below. 

Reasons 

2. The Planning Practice Guidance advises that costs may be awarded against a 

party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying 
for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process. 

3. The Appellant submits that the Council has acted unreasonably in that it has 

gone against the advice of its professional officers without good reason and has 

prevented and delayed development which should clearly be permitted.  The 

appellants contend that the Council failed to substantiate the objections on the 
grounds of loss of social infrastructure and has provided information that is 

manifestly inaccurate or untrue because the veterinary practice does not 

constitute part of social infrastructure.  Further, the Council states that the loss 
of the veterinary practice would adversely affect the vitality and vibrancy of 

Berkhamsted town centre, which the appellant disputes due to the location of 

the appeal site outside the defined town centre.  The appellants consider that 

the Council has acted unreasonably and the appellant has been put to 
unnecessary costs.   

4. The National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that, irrespective of the 

outcome of the appeal, costs may only be awarded against a party who has 

behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying for costs to incur 

unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process.  

Page 146

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. The PPG makes it clear that a local planning authority is at risk of an award of 

costs if it fails to produce evidence to substantiate each reason for refusal on 

appeal and/or makes vague, generalised or inaccurate assertions about a 
proposal’s impact which are unsupported by any objective analysis.  

6. While the Council is not duty bound to follow the advice of its professional 

officers, if a different decision is reached, the Council has to clearly 

demonstrate on planning grounds why a proposal is unacceptable and provide 

clear evidence to substantiate that reasoning.   

7. In this case, the planning officers confirmed in their report to committee that 

the site is located within a residential area of Berkhamsted and that it does not 
fall within a General Employment Area and is not protected for employment use 

retention.  Notwithstanding the letters of objection, there is no evidence to 

counteract the evidence provided by the appellants which concludes on the 
compliance of the development with policy.   

8. In the planning judgement, it appears to me that having regard to the 

provisions of the development plan, national planning policy and other material 

considerations, the development proposed should reasonably have been 

permitted.  The refusal of planning permission on the two grounds described 

therefore constitutes unreasonable behaviour contrary to the basic guidance in 
the National Planning Policy Framework and the PPG and the appellant has 

been faced with the unnecessary expense of lodging the appeal.  

9. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or 

wasted expense, as described in Planning Practice Guidance, has been 

demonstrated and that a partial award of costs is justified.  
 

Costs Order  

10. In exercise of the powers under section 250(5) of the Local Government Act 

1972 and Schedule 6 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended, 

and all other enabling powers in that behalf, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that 
Dacorum Borough Council shall pay to Mr S Williams, the partial costs of the 

appeal proceedings described in the heading of this decision; such costs to be 

assessed in the Senior Courts Costs Office if not agreed.  

11. The applicant is now invited to submit to Dacorum Borough Council, to whom a 

copy of this decision has been sent, details of those costs with a view to 
reaching agreement as to the amount. 

 

Rebecca Thomas 

INSPECTOR 

Page 147

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 7 August 2019 

by Rebecca Thomas MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 29 November 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 

320a High Street, Berkhamsted, HP4 1HT 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Steven Williams against the decision of Dacorum Borough 

Council. 
• The application Ref 4/02993/18/FUL, dated 27 November 2018, was refused by notice 

dated 26 February 2019. 
• The development proposed is Change of Use and conversion of existing ground floor 

from veterinary practice into a two-bedroom flat; Roof extension at first floor to 
increase size of existing first floor flat to a larger two-bedroom flat; Erection of two 
new-build two-bedroom apartments to the rear facing St. John’s Well Lane; Provision of 

car parking for five vehicles, five-bay cycle store and waste refuse store. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for Change of Use 

and conversion of existing ground floor from veterinary practice into a two-
bedroom flat; Roof extension at first floor to increase size of existing first floor 

flat to a larger two-bedroom flat; Erection of two new-build two-bedroom 

apartments to the rear facing St. John’s Well Lane; Provision of car parking for 
five vehicles, five-bay cycle store and waste refuse store at 320A High Street, 

Berkhamsted, HP4 1HT in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 

4/02993/18/FUL, dated 27 November 2018, subject to the conditions set out in 

the attached schedule. 

Application for costs 

2. An application for costs was made by Philip Dean Ltd. on behalf of                 

Mr S Williams against Dacorum Borough Council.  This application is the subject 
of a separate Decision. 

Main Issues 

 

3. The main issues are:  

• The effect of the development on the character and appearance of the area and 

the Berkhamsted Conservation Area (CA); 

• The effect of the development on the living conditions in particular outdoor 

amenity space for future occupiers and to neighbouring properties with regard 

to outlook; and 

Page 148

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

• The effect of the proposal on local community facilities. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

4. The appeal site is an extension to an existing Victorian property, constructed of 

matching red brick with slate roof extension located on a corner plot on the 
junction of St. John’s Well Lane and the High Street.  The site extends along St. 

John’s Well Lane, and includes the existing car park and site access from this 

road.  The proposed development would include the conversion of the existing 
brick building and its extension to the roof and rear, making use of part of the 

car park area.  The proposed extension would be modern in design, making use 

of brick and aluminium detailing. 

5. The site is at the edge of the High Street area, where the intensity of high 

street uses is clearly changing, with residential properties dominating and 
various types of business scattered throughout.  On the opposite side of the 

road is a small telephone exchange and the access to the Waitrose 

supermarket.  At the time of my site visit, there was a vacant premises which 

appeared to previously have been used for a restaurant.   

6. The site falls within the Berkhamsted CA.  The CA, in its entirety, is a 

designated heritage asset.  The statutory duty within Section 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, which requires 

that special attention is paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance of conservation areas, applies. 

7. This part of the CA is characterised by red brick buildings with modern 

additions interspersed.  The appeal site would result in the addition of a 
modern extension to the existing building (which has previously been 

extended).  Whilst the extension would be modern, it would provide a contrast 

between the existing and the new, enabling the original building to be easily 
identified.  In addition to this, the changing levels of the road would result in 

an extension which remains at lower levels to the existing.  The careful use of 

design and materials, combined with the lower level of the extension would 
result in an addition to the CA which contributes to its character and 

appearance. 

8. The proposed development would extend the rear of the building alongside       

St Johns Well Lane, and would look out onto this road.  I have had regard to 

the mixed architecture on St Johns Well Lane which varies and is of modern 
design.  Given that the predominant Victorian character of the appeal site is 

facing the High Street, and that the appeal proposals would not affect this 

elevation, the development would therefore offer a modern addition to St Johns 

Well Lane which has a more varied architecture type and quality.   

9. Policy CS27 of the Dacorum Core Strategy (2013) ‘the Core Strategy’ and 
Saved Policy 120 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (2004) ‘the Local Plan’ 

both seek the preservation of the setting and distinctiveness of heritage assets.   

10. The National Planning Policy Framework (‘the Framework’) states that when 

considering the impact of a development on the significance of a designated 

heritage asset great weight should be given to the conservation of the heritage 
asset.  New development should respond to local character and history, add to 

Page 149

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

the overall quality of the area and be visually attractive as a result of good 

architecture and landscaping. 

11. The buildings at numbers 320 and 322 High Street are identified as Locally 

Listed Buildings, or Non Designated Heritage Assets (NDHA).  The Framework 

is clear that the effect of an application on the significance of a NDHA must be 
taken into account and that a balanced judgement will be required with regard 

to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.1   

12. The frontages of these buildings display Victorian features with few modern 

interruptions to the traditional form and materials.  The appeal proposals would 

be located to the rear of the modern extension to the existing building, and the 
new buildings would display a contrast to the original building.  These changes 

in designs combined with the development taking the opportunity of the 

changes in land levels would ensure that there is a contrast between the 
original and the new.  The proposed development would be seen in the context 

of the original building, without disrupting its traditional frontage which is a key 

characteristic of this part of the CA and the NDHAs.  As such the development 

would not harm the character and appearance of the CA. 

13. Whilst the development proposed would result in additional built form over the 

site, the development would make use of the existing hardstanding area of the 
car park and does not breach the plot size or boundary.  The site is located 

close to the nearby telephone exchange and modern apartment building and 

the development would offer the opportunity to provide frontage interest to St 
Johns Well Lane. 

14. The retention of the site access and the heights of the buildings reflecting the 

changes in land levels here would enable the site to retain some sense of 

openness.  The plans indicate that the boundary hedge and trees would not be 

lost as a result, and as such the green nature of the site which contributes to 
the sense of spaciousness would not be altogether lost. 

15. The Council’s committee report finds that the density of dwellings is in 

accordance with the Berkhamsted Urban Design Assessment (2010), 

confirming that side streets within the town centre should have high densities, 

with the potential for very high densities in block sites.  Thus, the increase in 
density accords with the Urban Design Assessment and is appropriate in this 

location, given the proximity to the town centre. 

16. Policy CS10 of the Core Strategy expects new developments to promote higher 

densities in and around town centres and to demonstrate successful design.  

Therefore the proposed development accords with this policy.  Policy CS12 
expects high quality site design, including integration with the streetscape 

character and soft screening of settlement edges.  As discussed above, these 

criteria of this policy are met.  Other criteria are more relevant to neighbouring 
properties and so this is discussed below. 

17. With the above in mind, the characteristics and the appearance of the CA 

would be preserved as would those of the NDHA.  Therefore I find that the 

proposal would be in accordance with policies CS10, CS12 and CS27 of the 

Core Strategy and Policy 120 of the Local Plan which seek to conserve the 
historic environment, including NDHAs and their settings.  

                                       
1 Paragraph 197 

Page 150

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

18. Taking into account the above considerations, I find no conflict with the policies 

found in the Framework, which seek to secure developments which are 

sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, whilst not preventing or discouraging 

appropriate innovation or change. 

Living Conditions – Neighbouring properties 

19. The outlook from the ground floor windows to No. 320 are described as serving 

a basement and are set at a level lower than the neighbouring buildings.  I was 

able to see at my site visit that there is access to the first floor via the raised 

deck and stairs to the side.  The side windows to the first floor currently have 
an outlook towards the appeal site, comprising the side wall and roof of the 

appeal site.  There are further windows to the rear of No. 320. 

20. The proposed development would extend the existing rear section of the appeal 

building to meet the height of the building, which is the current outlook for 

No.320.  The pitch would match the existing dual pitch, facing away from the 
neighbour’s building and as such the outlook is not altered significantly.  I have 

also had regard to the additional windows to the rear of the building at first 

floor of No.320, which would remain unaffected and would continue to provide 

the additional outlook and source of light.   

21. The application documents included a Daylight and Sunlight Assessment which 
has concluded that a sufficient level of daylight and sunlight would be secured 

to 19 of 21 windows at No.320.  I acknowledge that the side kitchen door and 

adjacent window would fall short of the daylight and sunlight standards as set 

out in the BRE standards, however the Council confirms that these are 
secondary windows and the room is served by two unaffected rear windows 

and as such the affected room would have sufficient daylight and sunlight.  The 

appeal site is located to the east of the garden to No.320 and as such the 
additional built form would not create significant loss of sunlight due to this 

orientation.  There would be very limited additional loss of sunlight or outlook 

to the raised deck area due to its existing location between the buildings. 

22. The proposed development would result in two side-facing windows serving a 

kitchen and en-suite bathroom.  Taking into account the changes in levels, the 
extent of overlooking between the properties would be increased slightly 

however would not be direct.  The function of these rooms also means that the 

amount of overlooking would be limited.   

23. Whilst the development would create additional built form, the distance to the 
boundary with No.320 combined with the lower height of the proposed 

development would ensure that there is no unacceptable overbearing to the 

garden area of that neighbour.  The sense of openness would be reduced, 

however the distance between the development and the boundary would not be 
altered.  The development would include a green roof and horizontal planting to 

the elevation, combined with rooflights.  This would contribute to breaking up 

the additional built form, adding interest and softening the effect of the 
proposed development.   

 

 

 

Page 151

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

Living Conditions – Future occupiers 

24. The appeal proposal would provide a communal garden area for Flats A and B 

to the front of the property.  Flats D and E would be provided with small patio 

areas to the ground floor.   

25. Policy CS12 of the Core Strategy expects developments to provide (amongst 

other things) sufficient space for servicing, maintenance and parking.  Whilst 

the policy requires developments to respect neighbouring properties in terms of 
their landscaping and amenity space, the policy does not insist on providing 

private amenity space for all dwellings.  Appendix 3 of the Local Plan expects a 

good standard of privacy for new occupants and sets out suggested space 
requirements for gardens.  However, there are no set garden areas space 

standards for various types of developments.  Appendix 3 accepts that reduced 

rear garden depths may be acceptable for small starter homes, homes for the 
elderly and development backing onto or in close proximity, to open land, 

public open space or other amenity land.   

26. I have considered the requirements for amenity and garden space as set out in 

policy CS12 and consider that there are various factors which demonstrate that 

the proposed development would adhere to the policy.  Whilst the outdoor 

space is limited, the dwellings would be centrally located in Berkhamsted and 
within easy walking distance of the canal and easy reach to other local leisure 

facilities.  Given the town centre location of the site, the location is also close to 

public transport routes providing access to wider leisure and community 
facilities.  I am not persuaded that the reduced garden space would be so 

significant as to demonstrate harm to the living conditions of future occupiers. 

27. Thus, despite the additional built form, the proposal would still accord with the 

overall amenity protection and design aims of policy CS12 from the Core 

Strategy and Appendix 3 of the Local Plan. 

28. The proposal would also accord with The Framework at paragraph 127 which 

requires all development to create places which promote well-being and a high 
standard of amenity for all.  

Community facilities 

29. The Council’s objection is that the loss of the veterinary surgery would result in 

the loss of an important piece of social infrastructure which provides a valuable 

service to the local community and contributes to the vitality and vibrancy of 

Berkhamsted Town Centre.  It is submitted that the level of local objection to 
the loss of the veterinary practice was overwhelming, and is indicative of the 

high value of the surgery to the local community.   

30. The appeal site, whilst located in the residential area of the town is also 

immediately adjacent to the town centre area as identified by the Proposals 

Map from the Local Plan as shown in the Council and appellant statements.  I 
accept the Council’s assertion that the site is located on the fringes of the town 

centre and residential areas, and as such whilst there are clearly identified 

areas in the Proposals Map, it is reasonable to conclude that these boundaries 

are somewhat fluid.   

31. Policy CS 23 of the Core Strategy seeks to protect Social Infrastructure, 
including the protection of existing facilities.  The policy in part is to protect and 

provide community services, with an emphasis on young people and the 

Page 152

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

elderly.  The policy explains that specific facilities had been identified including 

new large community centres/halls and space for local faith groups, as well as 

cultural centres and more open space.   

32. Whilst there would be a loss of the veterinary services and facilities, the Council 

confirms in its officer’s committee report that the site is not protected for 
employment purposes and is not listed for protection as a community asset.  I 

have also taken into account that there are other veterinary practices nearby, 

including the town centre, and nearby settlements.  The veterinary practice 
does not directly meet the aims of Policy CS 23 either by providing services for 

young people or the elderly, and would not provide any of the types of space 

as identified. 

33. Nonetheless, there is some merit in considering the indirect benefits of being 

able to maintain pet health, as a part of the general wellbeing achieved by pet 
owners.  However, this is a service that is uniquely available only to pet owners 

who choose to use this particular practice and does not provide a wider 

community benefit as appears to be the tone of Policy CS 23.   

34. At the time of my site visit, the building was actively in use as a veterinary 

practice.  I noted another veterinary practice within the town centre, 

reasonably close by on foot.  Although the loss of the veterinary practice may 
result in existing users having the inconvenience of having to walk a slightly 

greater distance to other facilities, I do not regard such inconvenience as a 

clear threat to the viability and vitality of the town centre, nor to the general 
social infrastructure of the community.   

35. I acknowledge the benefit of the site providing employment and the well-

established nature of the veterinary practice.  However I am not provided with 

evidence which suggests that the existing practice could not re-locate within 

Berkhamsted or its immediate surroundings.  In these circumstances the loss 
of the surgery in this location would not have a harmful impact.  It would, 

however, result in more people living locally and this would be more likely to 

contribute to the local area being sustained.  I therefore find no conflict with 
Policy CS23 of the Core Strategy. 

Planning Balance  

36. Bringing together my conclusions on the main issues I have found that the site 

lies in a sustainable location where new development involving means of travel 
other than by car should be encouraged.  I have also found that the proposal 

would not clearly harm accessibility of the town centre of Berkhamsted or the 

vitality or viability of the centre but would be more likely to contribute to these 
latter factors.  

37. Overall I find that the proposal would accord with the relevant provisions of the 

core strategy and local plan. Further, I have found that the proposal accords 

with the Framework in terms of the location of new development and this 

national guidance also indicates that the planning system should deliver a wide 
choice in the type of homes available locally to meet the different needs of 

different groups. I am therefore satisfied that the proposal constitutes 

sustainable development.  

38. The accord of the proposal with the development plan and the Framework 

when read as a whole is not outweighed by any other consideration and the 

Page 153

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

Framework indicates in paragraph 11 that such development should be 

approved without delay.  

Other Matters 

39. I have had regard to the objections raised in relation to the proposal.  

Reference has been made to legal rights of access across the appeal site to the 

occupiers of number 320 High Street.  However, these are private matters to 

be resolved by the parties and are therefore not relevant to my decision. 

40. The plans before me show provision for parking and turning on site for the 
proposed dwellings.  Given the central location of the site, close to bus stops 

and the railway station, I find no harm in terms of increased parking pressure 

in the area.  I also find no reason to conclude that the changes to the site 

access would be harmful to highway safety or the safety of pedestrians nor 
would the increase in vehicle movements from one additional dwelling be 

harmful.  I note the Council similarly raised no concerns in respect of these 

matters. 

41. I note the objections raised to the proposal by other interested parties and the 

comments made have already been addressed in my reasoning above. 

Conditions 

42. The Council suggests 11 conditions.  The three year period in which the 

planning permission may be implemented is a statutory requirement (1).  I 
consider that it is necessary in the interests of clarity to specify the plans that 

are approved and that the development shall be undertaken in accordance with 

these unless further modified by any condition set out below (2).   

43. I consider that it is necessary to confirm the details of the materials to be used 

and the external metal work, finishes and detailing in order to protect the 
character and appearance of the local area, the CA and the NDHA (3 and 4).  A 

condition to ensure the green roof maintenance is also appropriate in the 

interests of the protection of the CA and the character and appearance of the 

local area (8).   

44. In the interests of any archaeological finds during construction, I have imposed 
conditions to secure a written scheme of investigation and its implementation 

to ensure recording of archaeological evidence (5 and 6). 

45. It is reasonable and necessary to impose a condition to ensure the retention of 

obscure glazing to the windows in the western elevation in the interests of the 

privacy of occupiers of neighbouring properties (7). 

46. I have imposed a condition to ensure that soft and hard landscaping is detailed 

and approved in order to protect the character and appearance of the local 
area and the CA and this includes ensuring the maintenance of any       

planting (9 and 10). 

47. It is also necessary to impose a condition to ensure that the parking spaces are 

laid out and retained as proposed in the interests of highway safety (11). 

 

 

Page 154

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

Conclusion 

48. For the reasons given above and taking all other matters into account I 

conclude that the appeal should be allowed. 

 

Rebecca Thomas 

INSPECTOR 

  

Page 155

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          9 

 

Schedule of Conditions 

 
1) The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years 

from the date of this permission. 

 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved documents all from the STJOHNS/PA series: 

013/Rev.04; 015/Rev.04; 016/Rev.04; 018/Rev.03; 019/REV.03; 

020/Rev.03;021/Rev.03; 022/Rev.03. 
 

3) Prior to commencement of development, full details of the materials to be 

used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 
permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority.  The materials submitted should include details of: bricks; brick 

bond and mortar; rooflights; roof tiles; joinery and rainwater goods.  The 

development shall be carried out and retained in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 

4) Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, full details of 
all external metalwork, finishes and detailing including feature bronze 

panels, the windows and trellis features hereby approved, shown at a scale 

of 1:20, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority.  The development shall be carried out and retained in accordance 
with the approved details. 

 

5) Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Written 
Scheme of Investigation shall have bene submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority.  The scheme shall include an 

assessment of significance and research questions and: 
 

i. The programme and methodology of site investigation and 

recording; 

ii. The programme and methodology of site investigation and 
recording as suggested by the evaluation; 

iii. The programme for post investigation assessment; 

iv. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and 
recording; 

v. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the 

analysis and records of the site investigation; 
vi. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and 

records of the site investigation; 

vii. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to 

undertake the works set out in the Written Scheme of 
Investigation. 

 

6) Demolition and development shall take place in accordance with the Written 
Scheme of Investigation referred to and approved under condition 5.  Prior 

to occupation the site investigation and post investigation assessments shall 

have been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the 
Written Scheme of Investigation as set out in condition 5 and the provision 

Page 156

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A1910/W/19/3227871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          10 

made for analysis, publication and dissemination fo results and archive 

deposition has been secured. 

 
7) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the windows 

at the western elevation have been fitted with obscured glazing and once 

installed the obscured glazing shall be retained thereafter.  

 
8) Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, a Green Roof 

Maintenance Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority.  This shall detail the ongoing maintenance and 
specification of the green roof hereby permitted as part of the development.  

Details shall include cleaning and general maintenance works/checks and 

procedures and timescales which shall commence following completion of the 
development hereby permitted and shall be carried out in accordance with 

the approved details. 

 

9) Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted full details of 
both hard and soft landscape works shall have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority.  These details shall 

include: 
 

• Hard surfacing materials; 

• Positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatments to be 

erected; 
• Soft landscape works which shall include planting plans; written 

specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated 

with plant and grass establishment); schedules of plants, noting 
species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where 

appropriate; 

• Trees to be retained and measures for their protection during 
construction works; 

• Storage of refuse provision for the dwellinghouses; 

• Proposed finished levels or contours; and 

• Scaled drawings and details of the barrier to the parking area. 
 

The approved landscape works shall be carried out prior to the first 

occupation of the development hereby permitted. 
 

10) All planting, seeding or turfing and soil preparation comprised in the 

approved details condition 7 shall be carried out in the first planting and 
seeding seasons following one year post implementation of the development 

hereby approved.  Any trees or plants which, which, within a period of five 

years from this date die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 

diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a 
similar size and species, unless agreed otherwise in writing by the local 

planning authority.  All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance 

with the guidance contained in British Standards unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority.  

 

11) The car parking spaces to be provided shall have measurements of 
2.4m x 4.8m respectively and shall be kept available at all times for the 

parking of motor vehicles by the occupants of the dwellings and their visitors 

and for no other purpose. 

Page 157

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	5a 19/02543/FHA - Rear ground floor single storey extension with internal modifications, dormer roof extension with new internal staircase. - 40 Elizabeth Ii Avenue Berkhamsted Hertfordshire HP4 3BF
	DMC-17-12-2019-Item 5a-40 Elizabeth II Avenue

	5b 4/02033/19/FUL - Conversion of existing dwelling into two dwellings & development of two 3 bed dwellings - 39A Adeyfield Road Hemel Hempstead HP2 5DP
	DMC-17-12-2019-Item 5b-39A Adeyfield Road

	5c 4/02277/19/FUL - Install 13 parking bays on amenity land - Amenity Green Opp. 7 Elm Green Hemel Hempstead HP1 3PX
	DMC-17-12-2019-Item 5c-Amenity Green Opp. 7 Elm Green

	5d 4/02266/19/FHA - Retention of existing shed in Garden. - 65 St Johns Road Hemel Hempstead HP1 1QQ
	DMC-17-12-2019-Item 5d-65 St Johns Road

	5e 4/02267/19/LBC - Retention of existing shed in Garden. - 65 St Johns Road Hemel Hempstead HP1 1QQ
	5f 4/00718/19/FUL - Change of use from agricultural land to dog walking paddock with associated car parking and new vehicle crossover. - Land South The Brambles, Flaunden Lane, Bovingdon
	DMC-17-12-2019-Item 5f-Land South The Brambles, Flaunden Lane
	DMC-17-12-2019-Item 5f-Objection

	6 Appeals
	DMC-17-12-2019-APPEAL DECISION Highlands
	DMC-17-12-2019-Appeals-Costs Decision 320a High Street
	DMC-17-12-2019-Appeal Decision 320 a High Street Berkhamsted


